AN INVESTIGATION OF VARIOUS INTRINSIC AND EXTERNAL FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE IN VITRO CELL SURVIVAL OUTCOMES DURING RADIATION-INDUCED BYSTANDER EFFECT EXPERIMENTS

# AN INVESTIGATION OF VARIOUS INTRINSIC AND EXTERNAL FACTORS THAT INFLUENCE IN VITRO CELL SURVIVAL OUTCOMES DURING RADIATION-INDUCED BYSTANDER EFFECT EXPERIMENTS

By CONNOR GRESHAM, B.MRSc.

A Thesis Submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in Partial Fulfilment of the

Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science

McMaster University © Copyright by Connor Gresham, September 2023

## MASTER OF SCIENCE (2023)

### Department of Physics and Astronomy

McMaster University Hamilton, Ontario

Title: An Investigation Of Various Intrinsic And External Factors That Influence In Vitro

Cell Survival Outcomes During Radiation-Induced Bystander Effect Experiments

Author: Connor Gresham, B.MRSc. (McMaster University)

Supervisors: Dr. Carmel Mothersill, Dr. Colin Seymour, and Dr. Tom Farrell

Number Of Pages: xii, 123

## Lay Abstract

The radiation-induced bystander effect is an important phenomenon in the field of radiation biology and radiation safety. Irradiated cells are able to communicate radiation damage to other, potentially healthy, cells in the surrounding area. Over the past 30 years, many studies have been performed to better understand how this bystander effect works. This thesis aims to determine what variables have a significant influence on the results of these bystander effect experiments. This will allow future research in this area to become more standardized and consistent, thus making comparisons between studies easier and results more powerful.

### Abstract

The radiation-induced bystander effect is an important phenomenon in the field of radiation biology. It has been shown that cells, after exposure to radiation, can communicate with surrounding cells and affect their physiology. Otherwise-healthy recipient cells can be influenced to undergo cellular senescence or apoptosis through this process. This has potential utilizations for radiation oncology and as well as our understanding of radiation safety. The radiation-induced bystander effect has been extensively investigated since the 1990s, but the scientific community struggles to come to a unanimous decision on how strongly these signals impact the survival of bystander cells. Results show various degrees of impact on cell survival whereas certain studies refute the existence of a radiation-induced bystander effect. This may be due to the fact that there is a great deal of study heterogeneity within the radiation-induced bystander effect community. Most experiments follow a similar general bystander protocol but often use different donor and reporter cell lines that vary in sex, organ of origin, and p53 status. The type of radiation and dose rate also typically differ between experimental designs. In this analysis, 67 in vitro, medium-transfer, radiation-induced, bystander effect studies were retrospectively graphed and analyzed to determine which intrinsic and external factors contributed significantly to the overall survival percentage change observed in reporter cells. A Two-Way ANOVA was conducted on each variable and showed that the reporter cell line, p53 status, and radiation type had a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change. These findings may explain the variation in results seen in past experiments and may help standardize future research allowing for more direct comparisons.

## Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, Dr. Carmel Mothersill, for her kindness, patience, and understanding while I navigated the ups and downs of being a graduate student. Your encouragement and guidance are what allowed me to get back on course and succeed. Without your guidance, this thesis would not have been possible and I am truly indebted to you for everything that you've done for me.

I would also like to give special thanks the members of my committee, Dr. Colin Seymour and Dr. Tom Farrell. You both provided valuable feedback and advice, as well as some much-needed comedic relief. For that, I am very grateful. I also appreciated your patience during my research, as the journey was not always a smooth one.

I could not have undertaken this journey without the support of my partner, Gloria. You've always been there for me, during all of the highs and all of the lows. Your belief in me never wavered and your hard work allowed me to focus on completing my degree. I am beyond grateful to have a partner that is willing to sacrifice as much as you have. I owe this degree to you as much as anyone else and I am looking forward to the next chapter in our lives. I must also thank your parents, Vanja and Marin, for their hospitality and kindness while I was working on this degree.

To my parents, thank you for your support and encouragement over the years. You've given me everything that I needed to set myself up for success. I know that this was just as stressful for you as it was for me. You can finally breathe a sigh of relief. Without you, Mom and Dad, none of this would have been possible. I love you both very much.

Many thanks to Dr. Adam Penkul and Adam Gallant for their suggestions and edits to my thesis. You both inspire me to achieve greater heights and be the best version of myself. I couldn't have done this without either of you.

Thanks should also go to my close friends, especially Alex Brennan, Nadeem Abboud, and Arjay Villasis. Having an outlet during these past four years has been so important and your moral support has helped me to where I am today. Lastly, I want to say thank you to my furry friend, Joey. I will forever be grateful for the entertainment and emotional support and you are missed dearly.

## Table of Contents

Chantard		4
Chapter 1	Introduction	1
1.1	Early Days of Radiobiology	1
1.2	The Physics of Radiation	1
1.3	The Bystander Effect	4
1.4	The History of the Bystander Effect	5
1.5	The Modern Bystander Effect	13
1.6	The Complexity of the Literature	16
1.7	The Chosen Factors: Reporter Cell Line	17
1.8	The Chosen Factors: Organ of Origin	19
1.9	The Chosen Factors: Sex of the Cell Line	22
1.10	The Chosen Factors: p53 Status of the Cell Line	24
1.11	The Chosen Factors: Radiation Source	28
1.12	The Chosen Factors: Radiation Type	30
1.13	The Chosen Factors: Dose Rate	33
1.14	The Chosen Factors: Dose	36
Chapter 2	Methodology	39
2.1	Original Study Design	39
2.2	Second Iteration of Study Design	40
2.3	Final Study Design	40
2.4	Thesis Hypotheses	41
2.5	Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria	42
2.6	Study Selection and Literature Search	44
2.7	PRISMA	45
2.8	Data Extraction	47

2.9	Quality Assessment of Included Studies	49
2.10	Data Analysis – Graphing Techniques	52
2.11	Data Analysis – Statistical Techniques	53
2.12	Outlier Detection and Normality Confirmation	54
Chapter 3	Results	55
3.1	Brief Overview	55
3.2	Overall Results	56
3.3	Reporter Cell Line Results	59
3.4	Organ of Origin of Reporter Cell Line Results	64
3.5	Sex of Reporter Cell Line Results	69
3.6	p53 Status of Reporter Cell Line Results	73
3.7	Radiation Source Results	77
3.8	Radiation Type Results	82
3.9	Dose Rate Results	87
Chapter 4	Discussion	91
Chapter 4 4.1	Discussion Overall Discussion	<b>91</b> 91
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2	Discussion         Overall Discussion         Discussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell Line	<b>91</b> 91 93
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3	DiscussionOverall DiscussionDiscussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of Organ of Origin	<b>91</b> 91 93 95
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4	DiscussionOverall DiscussionDiscussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of Organ of OriginDiscussion of the Effect of Sex of the Reporter Cell Line	<b>91</b> 91 93 95 97
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5	DiscussionOverall DiscussionDiscussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of Organ of OriginDiscussion of the Effect of Sex of the Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of p53 Status	<b>91</b> 93 95 97 98
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6	DiscussionOverall DiscussionDiscussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of Organ of OriginDiscussion of the Effect of Sex of the Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of p53 StatusDiscussion of the Effect of Radiation Source	<ul> <li>91</li> <li>91</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>97</li> <li>98</li> <li>100</li> </ul>
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7	DiscussionOverall DiscussionDiscussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of Organ of OriginDiscussion of the Effect of Sex of the Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of p53 StatusDiscussion of the Effect of Radiation SourceDiscussion of the Effect of Radiation Type	<ul> <li>91</li> <li>91</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>97</li> <li>98</li> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> </ul>
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8	DiscussionOverall DiscussionDiscussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of Organ of OriginDiscussion of the Effect of Sex of the Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of p53 StatusDiscussion of the Effect of Radiation SourceDiscussion of the Effect of Radiation TypeDiscussion of the Effect of Dose Rate	<ul> <li>91</li> <li>91</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>97</li> <li>98</li> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>103</li> </ul>
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9	DiscussionOverall DiscussionDiscussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of Organ of OriginDiscussion of the Effect of Sex of the Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of p53 StatusDiscussion of the Effect of Radiation SourceDiscussion of the Effect of Dose RateDiscussion of the Effect of Dose	<ul> <li>91</li> <li>91</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>97</li> <li>98</li> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>103</li> <li>104</li> </ul>
Chapter 4 4.1 4.2 4.3 4.4 4.5 4.6 4.7 4.8 4.9 4.10	DiscussionOverall DiscussionDiscussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of Organ of OriginDiscussion of the Effect of Sex of the Reporter Cell LineDiscussion of the Effect of p53 StatusDiscussion of the Effect of Radiation SourceDiscussion of the Effect of Radiation TypeDiscussion of the Effect of Dose RateDiscussion of the Effect of DoseLimitations	<ul> <li>91</li> <li>91</li> <li>93</li> <li>95</li> <li>97</li> <li>98</li> <li>100</li> <li>101</li> <li>103</li> <li>104</li> <li>106</li> </ul>

Chapter 6	Appendices	109
Chapter 7	References	110

# List of Figures

Figure	Explanation	Page Number
Figure 1	PRISMA Flowchart	46
Figure 2	Histogram of Survival Percentage Change Values	55
Figure 3	Overall Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	57
Figure 4	Alternate Overall Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	58
Figure 5	Cell Line Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	60
Figure 6	Alternate Cell Line Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	61
Figure 7	Cell Line Survival Percentage Change Box Plot	62
Figure 8	Organ of Origin Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	65
Figure 9	Alternate Organ of Origin Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	66
Figure 10	Organ of Origin Survival Percentage Change Box Plot	67
Figure 11	Sex of the Reporter Cell Line Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	70
Figure 12	Alternate Sex of the Reporter Cell Line Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	71

Figure 13	Sex of the Reporter Cell Line Survival Percentage Change Box Plot	72
Figure 14	p53 Status Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	74
Figure 15	Alternate p53 Status Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	75
Figure 16	p53 Status Survival Percentage Change Box Plot	76
Figure 17	Radiation Source Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	78
Figure 18	Alternate Radiation Source Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	79
Figure 19	Radiation Source Survival Percentage Change Box Plot	80
Figure 20	Radiation Type Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	83
Figure 21	Alternate Radiation Type Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	84
Figure 22	Radiation Type Survival Percentage Change Box Plot	85
Figure 23	Dose Rate Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	88
Figure 24	Alternate Dose Rate Survival Percentage Change Scatter Plot	89
Figure 25	Dose Rate Survival Percentage Change Box Plot	90

## List of Tables

Table	Explanation	Page Number
Table 1	Two-Way ANOVA Table for Reporter Cell Line Factor	61
Table 2	Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Cell Line subgroup	63
Table 3	Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Organ subgroup	68
Table 4	Two-Way ANOVA Table for Sex of the Reporter Cell Line Factor	71
Table 5	Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Sex subgroup.	72
Table 6	Two-Way ANOVA Table for p53 Status Factor	75
Table 7	Table displaying the number of plotted data within each p53 Status subgroup.	76
Table 8	Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Radiation Source subgroup	81
Table 9	Two-Way ANOVA Table for Radiation Type Factor	84
Table 10	Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Radiation Type subgroup	86
Table 11	Two-Way ANOVA Table for Dose Rate Factor	89
Table 12	Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Dose Rate subgroup	90

# List of Appendices

Appendix	Explanation	Page Number
Appendix 1	Original Excel Spreadsheet	109
Appendix 2	Second Version of Excel Spreadsheet	109
Appendix 3	Final Excel Spreadsheet	109
Appendix 4	Literature Search Strategy	109
Appendix 5	QA Scoring Sheet	109

## **Chapter 1: Introduction**

## 1.1 Early Days of Radiobiology

The field of radiobiology explores how ionizing radiation affects living things. Before discussing the physics responsible for these radiation effects, it is important to understand the beginnings of this area of research. In 1895, Wilhelm Röntgen announced a novel kind of ray known as the "x-ray". He used the x-ray to demonstrate how one can produce a radiograph by exposing an object in front of photographic film (Podgorsak, 2018). The diagnostic and therapeutic potential were expanded upon one year later, when Leopold Freund showed that a hairy mole could be treated with exposure to x-rays (Kogelnik, 1997). That same year, Antoine Becquerel discovered radioactivity emanating from uranium compounds. In 1898, the "mother of radioactivity", Marie Curie, and her husband, Pierre Curie, announced the discovery of two new radioactive elements, polonium and radium (Reed, 2011). The first radium "burn" was reported by Pierre Curie in 1901 (after having intentionally attempted to self-induce skin erythema), and thus began the field of radiobiology as we know it (Reed, 2011).

## **1.2 The Physics of Radiation**

Radiation in general refers to energy in the form of waves or particles, which is transferred from one site to another. Radiation that is described as "ionizing" has sufficient energy to eject electrons from the shell of the atom, thus creating an ion (Podgorsak, 2018). Ionizing radiation may be classified as either electromagnetic (which consists of photons such as x-rays and gamma rays) or particulate (which consists of particles such as alpha particles,

beta particles, etc.). Photon energy is dictated by the formula, E = hf, where h is Planck's constant and f is the frequency. Both x-rays and gamma rays have relatively short wavelengths, meaning a higher frequency and, by extension, increased energy per photon (Steiner, 2012). Photons and particles deposit their energy into cells, which may break chemical bonds present in the biological tissue and lead to physiological change (Podgorsak, 2018). Importantly, total energy is less biologically significant than the form of the delivered energy (for example, heat is less detrimental to biological systems than equivalent doses of radiation). In order to induce ionization, electromagnetic radiations require a photon energy of more than 124 ev, or a wavelength shorter than  $10^{-6}$  cm (Hall & Giaccia, 2012).

Many different types of particulate radiation are used during radiation biology experiments. These include alpha particles, beta particles, protons, neutrons, and heavy charged particles. Alpha particles are nuclei of helium atoms and are positively charged. They are emitted during the decay of many radioactive elements such as uranium. Beta particles are fast-moving, high-energy electrons and are negatively charged. Protons are positively charged particles that make up the nucleus of an atom and are 2000 times more massive than electrons. Neutrons are another particle that make up the nucleus in an atom, however, they carry no electrical charge and have a mass just slightly greater than protons. Neutrons can be produced when a charged particle is accelerated into a certain target material, or they can be produced as a by-product of nuclear fission; when an atom splits into two smaller atoms. Lastly, heavy charged particles are nuclei of elements that have had some or all of their orbital electrons stripped away, resulting in a positively charged ion. Elements such as carbon and iron are commonly used during radiobiology

experimentation. All of these particles are considered directly ionizing, meaning that, with sufficient energy, they can interact with and change the atomic structure of the tissue they pass through, leading to biological damage (Bolus, 2017).

Electromagnetic radiation is considered indirectly ionizing, meaning that when the photons deposit their energy into the target tissue, the photons themselves do not cause any biological damage. However, the energy transfer produces charged particles that can cause biological damage. Two main types of radiation absorption occur when looking at photons with relatively low energy. The first method of absorption is through the Compton process, whereby the incident photon interacts with an orbital electron. The electron is liberated from the atom and proceeds at a high speed, while the photon loses energy and is scattered in a different direction (Bolus, 2017)). The second method of absorption is through the photoelectric process. During this process, a photon transfers all of its energy to the atom which then loses the energy by ejecting an inner-shell electron. This causes the electron to eject from the atom, leaving a vacancy in the electron shell. Due to this, outer shell electrons or free electrons fill the unoccupied space. As this requires electrons to change energy levels, the excess energy is released as a photon that can initiate further interactions (Bolus, 2017).

Another quality of radiation is linear energy transfer (LET). This characteristic helps to indicate how much energy is lost by a photon/charged particle per unit length of a given material. LET is inversely proportional to distance, meaning that as radiation travels further and deposits energy less frequently, LET decreases. Alpha particles and

secondary electrons released by x-rays are examples of radiation with a high and low LET, respectively (Paganetti, 2014).

It is understood that the critical target of radiation damage is deoxyribonucleic acid (DNA). DNA can be damaged through direct or indirect action of radiation. Direct action occurs when the ionizing photon or particle interacts with an atom in the target, creating a fast-moving electron that causes damage and leads to biological change. Conversely, indirect action occurs when radiation interacts with other atoms or molecules in the cell and produces free radicals that travel further and damage DNA. Free radicals describe atoms with an unpaired electron in their outer shell, making them extremely reactive. These free radicals can cause biological changes if they hit the critical target, causing chemical changes and breaking bonds (Heeran *et al.*, 2019). It is important to note that, although these interactions happen within an extremely short period of time at the atomic level, significant changes might not occur for days, weeks, months, or even years. Noticeable changes, such as cell progression to cancer, occur over a longer period of time. In affected germ cells, heritable effects may not be seen for generations (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000).

## **1.3 The Bystander Effect**

It was originally thought that direct damage to the DNA was required for biological effects to occur. However, a paper published in 1992 by Nagasawa and Little uncovered a phenomenon later named the "bystander effect". They found that cells that were not directly traversed by a photon or particle may exhibit biological effects when in close proximity to cells that have been irradiated (Heeran *et al.*, 2019). In their experiment,

Nagasawa and Little exposed Chinese hamster ovary cells to alpha particles. They found that 30% of the cells showed an increase in sister chromatid exchanges, but only about 1% of the cells were actually traversed by an alpha particle (Nagasawa & Little, 1992). This showed that cells communicate radiation damage and can induce changes in neighbouring cells.

There are two methods by which bystander effects can occur. The first is through intercellulargap-junction communication. Gap-junctions exist between two cells and allow for molecular movement to occur through passive diffusion (Kumar & Gilula, 1996). This type of bystander effect is usually studied by using a microbeam, which allows researchers to deliver a specific number of particles to a specific number of cells. The effects can then be observed in the non-irradiated cells in close proximity to those traversed by a particle (Hall & Giaccia, 2012). The second method is when cells secrete a molecule into the intracellular matrix capable of inducing apoptosis and other biological effects in neighbouring cells. This is commonly studied by medium-transfer experiments where the medium from irradiated cells is filtered and used to culture new non-irradiated cells, known as "reporter cells" (Mothersill & Seymour, 1997).

## 1.4 The History of the Bystander Effect

#### Early 1900s

As discussed previously, the bystander effect is not just one phenomenon. It is a description of many chemical and biological processes that culminate in an observed change in cells that have not been directly exposed to radiation. As such, the bystander effect has been reported under many different names throughout the 1900s. Advances in

science and technology have allowed humanity to look back and better understand publications that describe these indirect radiation effects, all of which are important to the current understanding of the bystander effect (Mothersill *et al.*, 2018).

The first noted reference of an indirect radiation effect was a paper by Heineke *et al.* in 1905. In this study, irradiation experiments were performed on tumours in mice, effectively stimulating the secretion of "lymphoid elements" (Heineke *et al.*, 1905). This was expanded upon by Murphy and Morton in 1915. These subsequent experiments implemented tumour-bearing mice that had their tumour removed in the treatment group, or had their tumour left untouched in the control group. Afterwards, the mice were irradiated, and the tumours were implanted back into the mice in the treatment group. The tumours and mice were then observed. It was noted that, in the treatment group, unirradiated tumour grafts shrank by up to 50% and the animals lived for up to 5 weeks or more. The control group, on the other hand, saw their tumours continue to grow after a short period of time and resulted in the death of the animals after approximately one week (Murphy & Morton, 1915). Retrospectively, this was identified as a finding of radiation damage being communicated to normal tissues. (Mothersill *et al.*, 2018).

Furthermore, Strangeway and Fell (1927) exposed chicken eggs to two different doses of radiation and then observed changes in the embryos after different incubation periods ranging from 20 hours to 17 days. Cells were explanted for culture *in vitro* after the incubation period and the cells were observed to determine if they were able to recover after irradiation. It was noted that, "with the exception of the relatively small number of cells destroyed by the direct action of radiation the death of the tissues in the

6-day embryos was the result of some indirect action" (T. S. P. Strangeways & Honor Bridget Fell, 1927). Two different modes of action were identified: Firstly, an indirect, local action where, "the rays irradiate the general tissues which supply nourishment, and death of the cancer cells is the result of the increase in local defensive processes: phagocytosis, changes in circulation, sclerosis, etc." (T. S. P. Strangeways & Honor Bridget Fell, 1927). In addition to an indirect, general action where, "the radiations liberate into the circulation, from the tissues, a substance which acts either as a toxin on certain cells, or as a stimulant to certain general organic chemical reactions" (T. S. P. Strangeways & Honor Bridget Fell, 1927).

The understanding of the bystander effect is inextricably linked to the discovery of DNA and its importance in oncogenesis. In 1914, Dr. Theodore Boveri suggested that cancer cells were, "formed through alteration of normal cells" and that, "tiny, microscopic bodies called chromosomes might be abnormally distributed in tumor cells" (Huang & Zhou, 2021). Aiming to explore this theory, Hermann Muller decided to expose common fruit flies to ionizing radiation in the form of x-rays. He reported that the radiation was able to contribute to aberrations in chromosomes in the form of "transmutation" of a gene (Muller, 1928).

#### *Mid* 1900s

The middle of the 20<sup>th</sup> century was characterized by advances in the understanding of DNA and how chromosomes store the genetic material required for cellular function. In 1930, a paper by McNaughton reviewed previous experiments performed by the author and his colleagues. In this review, it was stated that radiation can cause small changes

to the DNA, which he called "point mutations", and larger changes such as heritable mutations in the chromosomes (McNaughton, 1930). Although most of his studies were focussed primarily on the direct effects of radiation exposure, indirect action of radiation was identified. In the review, it was noted that changes in a gene could be caused, "indirectly through the intermediary agency of injurious chemical substances or physical conditions that become diffused through the cell as a result of the irradiation of the latter" (McNaughton, 1930).

Over the following years, further discoveries challenged common beliefs on how radiation interacted with tissues (Mothersill *et al.*, 2018). A study by Hevesy (1945) found that after irradiating rats with sarcomas, tumours only shrank under a specific condition: when a different part of the body was irradiated, especially areas that did not have any tumours. These findings implied that healthy cells were able to transmit bystander signals to other areas that were not exposed to radiation which was suggested to be due to free radicals (G. Hevesy, 1945).

Following this, a study by Benjamin Jolles (1949) queried the existence of a diffusible substance that was produced in irradiated tissue. In his experiment, volunteers were given a dose of x-rays to two different areas of skin separated by varying width. The reaction of the skin was compared with a control group where a single area of skin was exposed to the same total dose of radiation. It was found that the reactions produced by the two separated areas were much larger than the control group's reaction. Backscatter/additional dosage was ruled out and a diffusible substance was suggested as an explanation for this result (Jolles, 1950).

This topic was developed further by Mole in 1953, who coined the term "abscopal effects" to differentiate from indirect effects. The term "abscopal" was made to describe changes that were, "at a distance from the irradiated volume but within the same organism" (Mole, 1953). This paper referenced an experiment conducted earlier that same year in which rats experienced an impaired function of the thyroid gland when a sufficiently large volume of the abdomen was irradiated, demonstrating this abscopal effect.

Building on this concept, Parsons *et al.* (1954) published a study that supported the concept of abscopal effects and challenged the scientific consensus. In their study, patients with chronic granulocytic leukemia had their spleens exposed to therapeutic doses of x-rays. Subsequently, a reduction of cellularity in the sternal bone marrow of each patient was observed. This effect on the sternal bone marrow was attributed to the spleen irradiation and strongly suggested an indirect effect of the radiation (Parsons *et al.*, 1954).

#### Late 1900s

By the 1960s, there were numerous studies investigating DNAdamage and how it related to the detrimental effects seen in atomic bomb and Chernobyl survivors (Mothersill *et al.*, 2018). A new term, "clastogenic factors", was used throughout the late 1900s. It was used to describe factors, present in the plasma, that irradiated cells can release to induce chromosome damage *in vivo* or *in vitro* (Mothersill *et al.*, 2018). General indirect effects were still mentioned in the literature, although, to a lesser degree. The exploration of

abscopal effects seemed to take precedence, however, there is a great deal of overlap between the two terms (Averbeck, 2023).

Souto (1962) was the first to mention a clastogenic effect. In his experiments, gamma rays from cobalt-60 were used to irradiate Sprague-Dawley rats of both sexes and Hampshire sheep of both sexes. The blood plasma from the lethally irradiated rats and sheep were injected into non-irradiated counterparts and it was found that the blood plasma was able to increase the frequency of breast tumours in the recipient female rats. This was hypothesized to be due to, "tumorogenic substances or factors potentiating the onset of [the] mammary tumours" (Souto, 1962).

In the later years of the 1960s, Joseph G. Hollowell and L. Gayle Littlefield published important papers that supported the theory that clastogenic factors were able to induce chromosomal damage in non-irradiated cells, a major steppingstone for the radiation-induced bystander effect field. Six patients, who were being treated for various cancers and had received large doses of x-rays, were selected for the studies. Hollowell and Littlefield added blood plasma from these patients to normal non-irradiated lymphocytes in a short-term culture. Chromosomal abnormalities were noted and classified such as chromatid breaks, dicentric chromosomes, chromatid exchanges, translocations, and chromosomal clumping. They showed that the blood plasma from irradiated patients was able to cause significant damage to the chromosomes of otherwise healthy lymphocytes and that the communication of radiation-induced damage was not restricted to the same cell type or organism. Their papers mentioned a "chromosome-breakage factor" present in the blood plasma that was able to "cause a

shift in DNA polymerase equilibrium", which clearly fits the description of clastogenic factors (Hollowell & L. Gayle Littlefield, 1968).

Chromosomal aberrations in lymphocytes continued to be explored throughout the 1970s. Demoise and Conard (1972) conducted experiments using the blood plasma from residents of the Marshall Islands. The population was exposed to high levels of radioactive fallout after a nearby nuclear device detonation in 1954. Similarly, to the method used by Hollowell and Littlefield, blood plasma from the exposed population was transferred to cultures of normal lymphocytes. A population of unexposed people were used as a control group. The results showed that the exposed population induced double the amount of chromosome aberrations in recipient cells compared with the control group (Demoise & Conard, 1972). In 1975, Goh published a study that showed that blood plasma, from men who were exposed to high levels of radiation, induced chromosomal aberrations 10.5 years after the original exposure. This study showed that clastogenic factors were able to persist *in vivo* for much longer than originally thought (Goh, 1975).

Furthering this revelation, a study done in 1977 by Pant and Kamada used the blood plasma from atomic bomb survivors, who had been exposed more than 30 years earlier, to study the effect of the plasma on leukocytes. They also observed the effects of blood plasma from x-rayed patients on leukocytes. The groups had varying amounts of chromosome break percentages. Only 3.7% of the control culture experienced chromosome breaks, while 12.5% of the culture with plasma from x-rayed patients had chromosomal breaks. Interestingly, 10.9% of the culture from atomic bomb survivors had induced chromosomal breaks in the recipient leukocytes. It was concluded that the

longevity of clastogenic effects could last for a very long time, even up to 31 years after radiation exposure, as was the case with the atomic bomb survivors (Pant & Kamada, 1977).

Another important paper, expanding the knowledge of clastogenic factors, was published in the 1980s by Faguet *et al.* Whole-body irradiation of rats resulted in the immediate emergence of clastogenic factors in the circulation. Furthermore, these factors, capable of inducing chromosomal damage, persisted for up to 10 weeks post-irradiation (Faguet *et al.*, 1984). Additionally, blood plasma was isolated from nonirradiated rats, and subsequently exposed the plasma to radiation *in vitro*. However, clastogenic factors were not found after the sole irradiation of the plasma. This confirmed that the factors were intrinsic to the cells of the organism, and not a byproduct of a biological process from within the plasma itself (Faguet *et al.*, 1984).

One of the most important findings in the late 1980s was that cells were able to pass on heritable defects to progeny cells, even after multiple successful divisions. Previously, it was presumed that if a cell successfully divided after irradiation, all the DNA damage that occurred must have been repaired. This followed the thought that lethal mutations would result in the cell failing to reproduce and only non-lethal mutations would be passed on to progeny cells (Mothersill *et al.*, 2018). A paper published in 1986 by Seymour *et al.* challenged this understanding. In their experiment, CHO-K1 cells were irradiated using a cobalt-60 teletherapy unit. Cells from the surviving colonies were used to establish confluent cultures, multiple times. This allowed for survivor cells to proliferate and undergo many cellular divisions up to approximately the 16<sup>th</sup> generation. It was found

that plating efficiencies were considerably lower for the descendants compared with those from unirradiated cultures (Seymour *et al.*, 1986). This initiated a change in the understanding of radiation-induced heritable effects.

## **1.5 The Modern Bystander Effect**

In the early 1990s, the modern understanding of the radiation-induced bystander effect became more prominent. Many studies were published that changed the way the scientific community viewed the effects of radiation. The relatively simplistic view that cells would either recover, mutate, or die, when exposed to radiation evolved into a more complex and nuanced interpretation. Cells have been found to communicate radiation damage to one another through multiple different methods, and the observed effects aren't limited to cells in close proximity at the time of irradiation. Genomic instability can cause lethal heritable effects in unirradiated descendant cells (Averbeck, 2023). Although many of the underlying conclusions were similar to those reported years earlier, the results were more widely accepted and compelling after years of research in the area. This modern paradigm is variously considered to have begun with the 1986 paper of Seymour et al. that was referred to in the previous section, a paper in 1992 by Kadhim et al. which coined the term genomic instability to describe the finding of non-clonal lethal chromosome aberrations in clonal descendants of irradiated stem cells, or the paper published in 1992 by Nagasawa and Little, who, as mentioned previously, were able to show the induction of sister chromatid exchanges by low doses of alpha particles. In the study conducted by Nagasawa and Little (1992), Chinese hamster cells were irradiated during mitosis with radiation from a plutonium-238 source. The original expectation was

that only cells that had been traversed by an alpha particle would exhibit damage to the chromosomes. However, up to 30% of the cells showed, an "increased frequency of [sister chromatid exchanges]" even though, "less than 1% of cell nuclei were actually traversed by an [alpha] particle" (Nagasawa & Little, 1992). The exact mechanism was unclear but it was noted that further research was needed to update the radiation risk evaluations of occupationally exposed individuals, as well as exposure standards for the general population (Nagasawa & Little, 1992).

Carmel Mothersill and Colin Seymour introduced a potential mechanism with their paper published in 1997. They irradiated three epithelial cell lines (HaCaT, PC-3, and SW-48) and one fibroblast cell line (MSU-1). The culture medium from those cell lines was used to culture fresh, nonirradiated cells. The results showed a "highly significant fall in cloning efficiency in unirradiated normal and malignant epithelial cell lines receiving medium from irradiated cultures" (Mothersill & Seymour, 1997). The authors ruled out the possibility of a toxic substance present in the medium by irradiating the medium in the absence of cells which showed no effect on the survival of recipient cells. This confirmed the involvement of extracellular soluble factors as a mechanism by which cells communicate radiation damage.

Another mechanism of cellular communication was discovered in 1998 by Azzam *et al.* Their group sought to understand the role of cell-to-cell communication and the signal transduction pathways involved in the bystander effect. The group exposed human diploid fibroblasts to alpha particles released from a plutonium-238 source. Western blot analysis showed that nearby bystander cells had increased levels of genetic damage

markers (TP53, CDKN1A, CDC2, CCNB1, and RAD51) despite only 2% of the cells having been traversed by an alpha particle. In a follow up study, the gap-junction inhibitor, lindane, was used and the experiment was repeated. The results showed that, "the extent of modulation of TP53 and CDKN1A [was] significantly reduced" (Azzam *et al.*, 1998). As such, it was clear that these specific signal pathways relied on gap-junction communication to induce a bystander effect in neighbouring cells. The authors made note of the many different forms of the radiation-induced bystander effect that were being reported at the time and suggested that, "reactive oxygen species, extra-nuclear originating signaling pathways, and secreted diffusible factors may also be involved and/or linked with intercellular communication in inducing the bystander response of cells exposed to low-dose [alpha] particle radiation" (Azzam *et al.*, 1998).

A different "branch" of the bystander effect "tree" was presented in a study by Mothersill *et al.* (2006). Previously, little work had been done to translate the effects seen *in vitro* to an *in vivo* model. In their experiment, rainbow trout were irradiated and allowed to swim with an unexposed partner fish for two hours. A third fish was added to the tank after the removal of the previous two and allowed to swim for another two hours. Explants of five organs (skin, fin, gill, spleen, and kidney) were taken from each fish and subsequently cultured for two days. The outgrowth was then examined, and culture medium was added to an unirradiated clonogenic cell line to determine the surviving fraction. Notably, recipient cells grown with the medium from explants of partner fish had reduced survival percentage outcomes. This effect was slightly magnified when using a medium from the third fish that was allowed to swim in the water after the removal of the other fish. These results suggested that radiation-induced damage could be passed from

one fish to another in water by means of a chemical messenger released into the water and was one of the first instances to show inter-animal signalling (Mothersill *et al.*, 2006).

More recently, it was shown that biophotons were able to induce a bystander effect in nonirradiated cells. Le *et al.* (2015) irradiated HaCaT human keratinocyte cells with tritium. Unirradiated recipient HaCaT cell cultures were placed above the beta-irradiated cells. The beta particles released from the tritium were able to cause secondary UV photons to be emitted from the irradiated cells. The clonogenic survival of the reporter cells was then assessed. This experiment resulted in a 23.2% reduction in reporter cell survival compared with controls. To confirm their hypothesis, a polyethylene terephthalate filter, was added into the space between the irradiated and nonirradiated cultures and the experiment was repeated. The filter was able to block the majority of the UV wavelengths, as was expected, and resulted in the treatment groups having similar survival outcomes to the control groups. These findings suggested that, "secondary photons in the UV spectral range induced by beta irradiation play a role in inducing a response in neighboring non-beta-irradiated reporter cells" and essentially expanded the number of possible mechanism responsible for the bystander effect (Le *et al.*, 2015).

## **1.6 The Complexity of the Literature**

It is evident that the bystander effect is not just one simple phenomenon, but a collection of biological processes that occur in recipient cells when exposed to previously irradiated cells or signals originating from them. According to the literature, the bystander effect manifests itself as clastogenic factors, abscopal effects, genomic instability, and interanimal signalling (Averbeck, 2023). Furthermore, these effects are transferred through

different methods such as gap-junction intercellular communication, extracellular soluble factors, and UV biophotons (Averbeck, 2023). Each of these methods can be induced through different means, such as exposing a single cell using an electron microbeam for gap-junction experiments or using a medium-transfer technique to research extracellular soluble factors. As such, the radiation-induced bystander effect literature is a heterogeneous collection of publications that use various experimental setups to further the understanding of this field. Even when exploring identical endpoints, it is common for authors or groups to change parameters between experiments. This thesis aims to explore how these differences impact the survival fraction outcomes of radiation-induced bystander effect experiments. The following sections will go over the current understanding of how each of the chosen factors are the reporter cell line, organ of origin of the reporter cell line, sex of the reporter cell line, p53 status of the reporter cell line, radiation type, dose rate, and dose.

## 1.7 The Chosen Factors: Reporter Cell Line

A decade after Nagasawa and Little published their landmark paper, Mothersill *et al.* (2002) sought to further the scientific understanding of the relationship between radiationinduced low-dose hypersensitivity and the bystander effect. The group irradiated 13 different human cell lines and performed medium-transfer experiments and clonogenic assays to see how each cell line differed from the control groups. The results showed that responses to radiation varied greatly. Cell lines such as GS3 and SW48 had greatly reduced cloning efficiency after exposure to 0.5 Gy irradiated cell-conditioned medium.

Others, such as TG98, HT29, and MSU1.1, had recipient cloning efficiencies that were higher than the controls. It was shown that cell lines that are malignant, anaerobic and rapidly proliferating have the smallest bystander effect since these cell lines, "have poor cell–cell communication and poor mitochondrial function, both of which are important in [the] transmission of bystander signals" (Mothersill *et al.*, 2002).

A prevalent theory within the scientific community was that bystander effects act as a protective system within an organism in the sense that they terminate cellular division before unrepaired DNA damage is able to be passed on. As such, Mothersill et al. (2004) hypothesized that repair-deficient cell lines would have a larger-than-normal bystander effect. AT Br1, 180Br, Raji 9 and 10, SW48, XRS-5, and XR-1 were the repair deficient cell lines that were chosen for their experiment to test their hypothesis. Cloning efficiencies of reporter cells were investigated after irradiation and subsequent medium transfer. Interestingly, repair-deficient and repair-proficient cells were used as both donors and reporters in an allogenic donor-reporter system. It was found that, "the signal produced by the repair-deficient cells [that were] tested produce[d] more clonogenic cell death in autologous and HPV reporter recipients" (Mothersill et al., 2004). The authors noted that the repair capabilities of the reporter cell line were important with regard to the bystander effect seen and reference an observation that, "HPV-G cell medium transferred to HPV-G recipient cells ha[d] less [of an] effect than the same medium transferred to SW48 repair-deficient cells" (Mothersill et al., 2004).

In 2008, Ryan *et al.* attempted to show a radiation-induced adaptive response in fish cell lines. At the time, the scientific community was interested in determining how low-

dose radiation affects non-human species (Ryan *et al.*, 2008). Three cell lines, CHSE-214, ZEB-2J, and RTG-2 were used for this experiment. These cells were derived from embryos of the Chinook salmon, zebrafish embryonic stem cells, and rainbow trout gonads, respectively. Clonogenic assays showed that ZEB-2J cells were much more sensitive to low-dose radiation compared to mammalian cell lines and that overall, fish cell lines observed a "protective" bystander response. After exposure to the irradiated cellconditioned medium, the fish cell lines had increased cloning efficiencies compared to control groups (Ryan *et al.*, 2008).

It is evident that a large variety of cell lines have been used as reporter cells during radiation-induced bystander effect experiments over the years. It is understood that these cell lines react to donor signals in different ways and can manifest as either a reduction or an increase in cloning efficiency and survival. These effects are not limited to human cell lines, as experiments with non-human cells show significant differences in how they respond to radiation-induced bystander signals.

## 1.8 The Chosen Factors: Organ of Origin

There are few publications that compare radiation-induced bystander effect data at a tissue-specific level. Most papers focus on individual cell lines that are derived from different organs or observe the effects in an *in vivo* model. However, there are inferences to be made from these experiments on how the organ of origin may affect the results in an *in vitro* model.

In 1997, Seymour and Mothersill conducted an experiment using different human epithelial cell lines. HaCaT cells, which originate from the skin, MSU-1 cells, which also

originate from the skin, PC-3 cells, which originate from the prostate, and SW48 cells, which originate from the colon were irradiated and the survival percentages of reporter cells were calculated. Although all cell types were treated the same way, results varied amongst the cell lines. Only normal skin cells saw a reduction in plating efficiency, whereas the progeny of the other cell lines, such as prostate and colon, showed no lethal mutation in progeny groups (Seymour & Mothersill, 1997).

A review of the literature performed in 2004 provided evidence that bystander effects occur *in vivo* at the level of the tissue or even at the level of an entire organism. It was suggested that *in vitro* models don't accurately predict risks at a larger scale and that, "bystander effects make the tissue respond as a whole and further demonstrate that radiation effects may be related to organized tissue responses rather than to alterations induced in single cells" (Brooks, 2004). The review stated that the organ of origin, when related to individual cells, may not be relevant in the context of the radiation-induced bystander effect.

An experiment by llnytskyy *et al.* (2009) exposed rats to whole-body or partial radiation and conducted an analysis of the molecular changes in bystander skin and spleen. It was described as the "first study to compare epigenetic *in vivo* bystander effects in different organs of the same organism that were located the same distance from the exposure field" (llnytskyy *et al.*, 2009). After treatment, spleen tissue had a greater amount of DNA damage compared with the skin tissue. The authors concluded that soluble bystander factors were able to induce a tissue-specific response within the same organism and hypothesized that it was controlled by the "inherent epigenetic parameters

of each tissue and may determine tissue responses to direct and indirect IR effects" (Ilnytskyy *et al.*, 2009).

A few years later, mice were used in an *in vivo* model to see the effects of fractionated low-dose radiation on the physiological function of normal tissues. It was noted that tissue-specific stem cells were responsible for replenishing the functional, differentiated cells of an organism throughout its lifetime. The study showed that stem cells from slowly renewing tissues, such as the brain may not respond to bystander signals as quickly or as strongly as stem cells from more quickly renewing tissues, such as the mucosa of the small intestine or of the epidermis of the skin (Schanz *et al.*, 2012).

In 2013, Chai *et al.* exposed mice during an *in vivo* study aiming to compare Cyclooxygenase 2 (COX-2) expression and mutagenesis in different organs. COX-2 is an enzyme that is upregulated in many cancers and inhibition of this enzyme shows a clear reduction in mutagenesis. As such, it is a useful marker for DNA damage in bystander cells. Interestingly, they found that the induction of COX-2 was tissue-specific. Only the lungs of the mice exhibited elevated levels of COX-2 while the same animals showed no induction of COX-2 expression in liver tissues, even after 72 hours (Chai *et al.*, 2012).

Cell lines from different organs react to bystander signals in different ways, although whether this is inherent to epigenetic parameters of the tissue or some other cause, is yet to be confirmed. Cells from organs that require cells to proliferate and replenish quickly are likely to have a more pronounced bystander effect compared with cells from organs that replenish slowly. Several studies concluded that bystander effects *in vivo* are moderated on a tissue-specific or whole organism level. More research is

required to ascertain the different responses of organs to bystander stimuli at the cellular level.

## **1.9 The Chosen Factors: Sex of the Cell Line**

There are a limited number of studies that specifically investigated how the sex of a cell line influenced the radiation-induced bystander effect. Most of these studies used *in vivo* models to compare the sexes or looked at a small number of patients, recorded their demographics, and made comparisons between the sexes afterwards. Many indicated a difference between the sexes, although firm conclusions have yet to be made with regard to an *in vitro* model.

Nevertheless, there are studies that have confirmed a difference between the soluble factors released by male and female patients. In an attempt to bridge the gap between results observed during *in vitro* experiments and practical *in vivo* effects, Mothersill *et al.* (2001) used tissues from over 100 patients with a history of smoking to assess the bystander signal produced from normal human urothelium. Upon analysis, it was found that the irradiated cell-conditioned medium from female patients resulted in a greater reduction in cloning efficiency than the medium from male patients (Mothersill *et al.*, 2001). Although HPV-G cells were used as reporters, this paper supported that bystander processes could be sex-specific.

MiRNAs, also known as microRNAs, are, "evolutionally conserved, small, singlestranded, non-protein-coding RNA molecules which are presently recognized as major regulators of gene expression" (Koturbash *et al.*, 2008). It has been shown that these molecules can impact, "cellular differentiation, proliferation, apoptosis, and even

predisposition to cancer" (Koturbash *et al.*, 2008). Abnormal levels of MiRNAs have been reported in many different human cancers. As such, Koturbash *et al.* set out to see whether there were differences between males and females in the expression of miRNAs in bystander exposed tissue. The main findings of this study were threefold:

(i) male and female spleen tissues are characterized by very distinct microRNA patterns; (ii) radiation exposure alters the microRNAome of male and female animals and induces sex-specific changes of microRNA levels in the exposed spleen tissue; (iii) cranial-only exposure also influences the spleen microRNAome and causes distinct changes in the male and female shielded bystander spleen. (Koturbash *et al.*, 2008, p. 1663)

The authors believed that sex hormones could be involved in the stress response of a cell and, although it is not well-understood, pointed to the fact that radiation-induced cancers seem to present more often in exposed males compared to females (Noshchenko *et al.*, 2001).

A few months later, a further study was done to expand on their findings reported in their previous paper. An *in vivo* mouse model was used to test the radiation-induced bystander effect in male and female mice. DNA damage levels, DNA methylation (altered levels are known as a cancer hallmark), cell proliferation, and apoptosis levels were assessed in the bystander spleen tissue of the selected mice. The results confirmed their hypothesis. Male spleen tissue was more sensitive to bystander signals which resulted in increased DNA damage. Furthermore, there was, "significant and persistent DNA hypomethylation [in the male spleen tissue], while no such changes were seen in the
female spleen [tissue]" (Koturbash, Kutanzi, *et al.*, 2008). Lastly, cranial irradiation led to increased levels of apoptosis in bystander-exposed female spleen. The authors concluded that males are, "more susceptible to the radiation-induced induction of bystander effects" and that further research is required to elucidate the differences between sexes.

The following year, Howe *et al.* (2009) tested blood samples from healthy controls and from colorectal carcinoma patients. The *in vitro* radiation-induced bystander effects were assayed through viability testing. Although cancer patients had decreased levels of cellular viability, there was not a statistically significant correlation found between induction of radiation-induced bystander effects and sex (Howe *et al.*, 2009). This is a contrasting result when compared with the *in vivo* conclusions discussed previously but highlights the importance of further testing and review.

### 1.10 The Chosen Factors: p53 Status of the Cell Line

The role of p53 in cellular mitosis and cancer prevention has been extensively studied. It is considered a critical part of the cellular response to ionizing radiation and is an "important modulator of oncogene-induced apoptosis" (Hall & Giaccia, 2012). This protein acts as a tumour suppressor which prevents cells from proliferating too quickly or in an uncontrolled manner. It is active during the G1 checkpoint of mitosis and, if DNA damage is detected, recruits other proteins to prevent the cell from further dividing. One of these recruited proteins is p21, which is considered a cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor. Elevated levels of p21 prevent the cell from entering into the S stage of mitosis by causing a G1 arrest and helps begin the process of apoptosis. p53 is able to bind to the DNAitself

and act as a transcription factor. TP53 is the gene found on chromosome 17 that contains instructions for making the tumour protein p53. As such, mutations of this gene are found in a wide variety of human cancers (Hanahan & Weinberg, 2000).

Under normal conditions, cells keep levels of p53 to a minimum. This is achieved through binding to a protein known as murine double minute 2 (Mdm2). Subsequently, the complex is transported to the cytoplasm where it is degraded by the proteasome. However, if the cell is exposed to a stressor, such as ionizing radiation, several mechanisms prevent the binding of Mdm2 to p53. This causes levels of p53 in the cell to rise, stabilize, and fulfill its role as a, "powerful proapoptotic molecule capable of transcriptionally activating gene expression by sequence-specific DNA binding to regulatory sequences" (Hall & Giaccia, 2012). The importance of p53 in tumour suppression has led it to be known as the "guardian of the genome" (Ho *et al.*, 2019).

Due to its newfound role in the radiation-induced bystander effect, further studies on p53 were initiated. A study conducted in 1998, identified genes that responded to p53 activation, measured their expression in normal tissues, and compared it to the gene expression after exposure to a cesium-137 source. The group also performed bystander assays by comparing the growth of target cells after being introduced to irradiated cellconditioned medium from cells that had different p53 statuses. Interestingly, medium from p53 null cells and medium from untreated p53 wild-type cells did not affect the growth of the target cells. Only medium from irradiated p53 wild-type cells caused growth inhibition, although the magnitude of the effect varied among different cells (Komarova *et al.*, 1998). It was speculated that the role of p53 was not only to restricted to tumour suppression,

but also as a "stress-dependent cellular export of growth inhibitory stimuli" due to the p53dependent secretion of growth inhibitors within the conditioned medium (Komarova *et al.*, 1998). It was noted that, "the observed growth suppression effect of p53-dependent secreted factors does not depend on the origin (mouse or human) and p53 status of the target cells" (Komarova *et al.*, 1998).

B. Little *et al.* (2002) conducted a bystander experiment where confluent cultures of fibroblasts and epithelial cells were exposed to very low doses of alpha radiation. Only 1-2% of the cells were traversed by an alpha particle, so bystander signals were assumed to be passed through gap-junction intracellular communication. To better understand the signalling pathways, gene expression was assessed in bystander cells. As predicted, levels of p53 were significantly elevated compared with controls. The authors also concluded that the effect was mediated by oxidative stress and involved the production of reactive oxygen species (B. Little *et al.*, 2002).

Many publications had confirmed the involvement of p53 in the cellular radiationresponse pathway and, as such, research groups began to focus on more direct comparisons between cells with differing p53 statuses. A study by Tomita *et al.* used xray microbeams to irradiate a small number of cells with either a mutant or wild-type p53 status. These cells were then allowed to pass on their bystander signals in a confluent culture. It was found that wild-type p53 cells, "were not only restrained in releasing bystander signals, but were also resistant to the signals released by the mutated p53 cells" (Tomita *et al.*, 2013). This provided a clear indication that the p53 status of bystander cells affected the overall cell killing that occurred.

26

Two years later, different forms of HCT-116, a colorectal carcinoma cell line commonly used in radiation experiments, were tested by Widel *et al.* Wild-type HCT116 and p53 null HCT116 cells were exposed to x-ray doses ranging from 2-8 Gy and the resulting viability was recorded in directly irradiated cells and bystander cells. Both p53 statuses showed bystander effects and viability was slightly lower in the p53 null cell line. Significantly greater levels of apoptosis were recorded in p53 null cell cultures compared with those with p53 wild-type. Remarkably, both types of HCT116 cells were able to induce bystander effects in reporter cells, but only p53 wild-type cells, "responded to signals from either cell line in a cross/match protocol using the medium transfer technique" (Widel *et al.*, 2015). Bystander-induced senescence was also explored. Cells with wild-type p53 secreted stronger senescence-inducing signals into the medium than p53 knockout cells. Additionally, only cells with wild-type p53 genes were affected by irradiation-induced premature senescence (Widel *et al.*, 2015).

After the discovery of the involvement of biophotons in the radiation-induced bystander effect, Le *et al.* (2017) set out to elucidate whether p53 status had an effect on the production of photon emission. Five cell lines with different p53 statuses were tested during their study. HaCaT (mutant p53), HCT116 (wild-type p53), HCT116 (p53 null), SW48 (wild-type p53), and HT29 (mutant p53) were cultured and irradiated through exposure to tritium. The photon emission of bystander cell cultures was recorded after being incubated within the UV-field generated by directly irradiated cultures. The results supported the current understanding of how p53 status affects the response in bystander cells. All of the cell lines with wild-type p53 status responded to the UV signals that they received, whereas the p53 null cell lines were unable to generate any significant

response, even after a photosensitizer was introduced. The authors reported different results between the two mutant cell lines. HT29 did not exhibit any reduction in survival percentage after exposure to UV signals, whereas HaCaT expressed a significant reduction in survival percentage. This was suggested to be due to different point mutation in p53 mutant cell lines eliciting a different response to radiation (Le *et al.*, 2017).

A great deal of time and effort has been dedicated to understanding how p53 affects the radiation-induced bystander effect. There is substantial research to show that the p53 status of the reporter cell line influences a cell's response to radiation. The differences between wild-type cells and p53 null cells are well understood, but there is uncertainty with regard to the contrasting results of p53 mutant cells.

### 1.11 The Chosen Factors: Radiation Source

Most of the radiation-induced bystander effect literature focuses on how different types of radiation affect the cellular stress response. Differences between incident particles or photons used for irradiation are explored and compared. However, the idea to specifically look at the sources of radiation, regardless of their decay products, stems from the fact that different results were produced from two different sources that emit the same quality of radiation. One of the sources in question is a cobalt-60 source that emits gamma rays with energies of 1.17 and 1.33 MeV (Parsons, 2012). The other is a cesium-137 source that decays into barium-137m which further decays to ground state by releasing gamma rays with an energy of 0.66 MeV (Parsons, 2012). Although both emit gamma rays, and the same doses were used, different survival percentages have been recorded during experiments.

Seymour and Mothersill (1997) conducted an experiment that tested the bystander effect in HaCaT cells. Cells that were selected to donate medium were plated and allowed to incubate. After, the donor flasks were irradiated with a cobalt-60 source that delivered approximately 0.5 Gy/min. The flasks were placed 80cm from the source. The medium was poured from the donor flasks and filtered to ensure that no cells were present in the medium. The irradiated, cell-conditioned medium was then transferred to recipient flasks and the survival percentage was recorded in reporter cells. Bystander HaCaT cells saw an approximate 27% decrease in survival at 0.5 Gy and a 23% decrease in survival at 2 Gy (Seymour & Mothersill, 1997).

Additionally, the same authors published a paper with the purpose elucidating the relationship between low-dose hyper-radiosensitivity and radiation-induced bystander effects. Two cell lines were chosen, one of them being the epithelial HaCaT cell line. Cesium-137 was the source used in this experiment and flasks were placed 27cm from the source while being irradiated at a dose rate of 0.3 Gy/min. An identical medium transfer technique was used when compared with the study done in 1997. Survival fractions of bystander cells exposed to the irradiated cell-conditioned medium were recorded and graphed. For comparison, HaCaT cells had about a 7% decrease in survival at 0.5 Gy and only a 2% decrease in survival at 2 Gy (Fernandez-Palomo *et al.*, 2016).

Although the reduction in survival was significant in each of these studies at the doses measured, one can see that the induced changes were more drastic when observing the effects produced by the cobalt-60 source. Even at the same dose and a similar dose rate, the cesium-137 source failed to replicate the magnitude of cellular

changes that occurred in the experiment years prior. Seeing as this was the main difference between experiments, the authors hypothesized that the source itself was the cause of this phenomenon.

### 1.12 The Chosen Factors: Radiation Type

The literature contains a multitude of experiments that used a wide variety of different types of radiation to irradiate donor cells. The quality and type of photon or particle affect how they interact with the molecules within the cells themselves and can lead to different degrees of DNA damage or bystander signal induction. Shao *et al.* (2001) showed that high LET radiation was able to elicit a stronger bystander response in reporter cells than low LET radiation. Human salivary gland cells were irradiated with either x-rays or a carbon ion beam during a co-culture bystander effect experiment. Reporter cells had lower survival and higher micronucleus formation when co-cultured with cells that were irradiated with the high LET carbon ion beam. These reporter cells also released higher amounts of nitic oxide molecules, causing further damage compared with those co-cultured with cells that were irradiated with low LET x-rays (Shao *et al.*, 2001).

A study conducted in 2006 by Kadhim *et al.* sought to further the understanding of genomic instability in bystander cells and tested the influence of radiation quality on the mean number of aberrations per cell. X-rays from aluminum and alpha particles from plutonium-238 were used for this experiment. The authors believed that the highest dose of alpha particles used (1 Gy) would cause the highest number of cellular aberrations. However, x-rays at the same dose showed very similar results. At higher doses, of

approximately 3 Gy, x-rays did not induce genetic instability that was significantly different from controls (Kadhim *et al.*, 2006).

Many research groups tried to determine if the radiation-induced bystander effect could be dependent on the LET of the radiation used. A study by Anzenberg *et al.* in 2008 tested this on prostate carcinoma cells. X-rays and alpha particles were again used to demonstrate the difference between low LET and high LET radiation. A co-culture technique was used with AG01511 fibroblasts or DU-145 cells as the reporter cell lines. There was no reported decrease in the survival fraction of DU-145 cells after co-culture with DU-145 cells that had been irradiated with x-rays or alpha particles. However, bystander AG01522 cells showed a significant reduction in survival fraction after co-culture with DU-145 cells that were irradiated by x-rays but no change was seen when alpha particles were used (Anzenberg *et al.*, 2008). The authors concluded that LET-dependent differences were observed, however, they suggested that more research be done to gain a more succinct understanding.

A further paper by Sowa *et al.* (2011) reported that no adaptive response was seen in bystander RKO36 cells exposed to low LET radiation. X-rays were used to first deliver a priming dose of 1 or 10 cGy and then to deliver a challenging dose ranging from 1.5 to 6 Gy. There was no significant difference in surviving fraction or micronuclei frequency in bystander cells compared with controls. The authors pointed to an overwhelming number of publications confirming that alpha particles are able to produce a bystander effect, "while electrons, gamma rays, X-rays and Fe ions do not" (Sowa *et al.*, 2011). They concluded the paper by mentioning the inter-laboratory variability that was present in the literature, at the time, and questioned the existence of a bystander effect at all (Sowa *et al.*, 2011).

Another study published by Buonanno *et al.* came to a similar conclusion. After exposure to iron ions, silicon ions, and protons, irradiated cells were co-cultured with nonirradiated reporter cells. It was shown that high LET radiation (iron and silicon ions) was, "[more] effective at inducing stressful effects in the progeny of bystander cells that were detectable at 20 population doublings after co-culture" (Buonanno *et al.*, 2011). Cells cultured with low LET irradiated cells were able to proliferate as well as controls and had similar levels of micronuclei formation. The authors stated that, "the high-LET radiationinduced effects are dose-dependent" (Buonanno *et al.*, 2011).

Moreover, Autsavapromporn *et al.* (2014) published a study that showed the persistence of oxidative stress in the progeny of bystander cells after irradiation with x-rays, protons, or carbon ions. The results showed that all types of radiation induced significant chromosomal damage and oxidative stress in bystander cells relative to control groups. However, the low LET radiation proved more effective at causing DNA damage in the progeny of bystander cells. Interestingly, when gap-junction communication was inhibited, the proton and carbon ion group saw a reduction in micronuclei formation whereas an increase was observed in the x-ray group. The authors stated that the data, "indicate that radiation-induced delayed stressful effects in the progeny of bystander cells is dependent on radiation quality and that GJIC may play a role in the observed effects" (Autsavapromporn *et al.*, 2014).

32

Recently, Suzuki *et al.* irradiated normal human skin fibroblasts with ultra-lowfluences of different radiation types. Gamma rays, neutrons, helium, carbon, and iron ions were used as priming doses before a challenging dose with x-rays. There were no differences in survival fraction between the different radiation types, but higher mutation frequency was seen with cells pretreated with helium and carbon ions. Iron ions and gamma rays had similar mutation frequencies as controls, while neutron exposure resulted in fewer mutations. It was concluded that neutrons may induce a radio-adaptive response, heavy ions are able to trigger genomic instability in bystander cells, and low LET radiation has a negligible impact on cellular function (Suzuki *et al.*, 2020).

Since the start of the modern bystander effect era in 1992, the scientific community has struggled to come to a consensus on whether or not radiation quality has a significant impact on the radiation-induced bystander effect. Most researchers agree that high LET radiation produces the most noticeable changes in reporter cell cultures. The highly variable results seen with low LET radiation have led some members of the community to question whether a bystander effect can be induced at all. The results of the majority of studies point to a significant difference between bystander outcomes produced by different radiation types. However, the etiology of this remains unclear.

### 1.13 The Chosen Factors: Dose Rate

Dose rate is one of the most variable factors within the bystander effect literature. The availability of different equipment causes significant variability in the dose rates used by different researchers. As a radioactive material decays, the dose rate can change as well. Furthermore, placement of donor cells is critical, since the distance from the source can

affect the dose rate imparted on the cells (Kim, 2018). The applied dose is always mentioned in the literature; however, there are many instances where the dose rate was not identified. It is important to understand how this factor can influence radiation-induced bystander effect outcomes.

A study done by Gow et al. in 2007 had the goal of discovering how varying dose rate affects the bystander effect induced in cells at the same doses. In this study, cells were exposed to dose rates of 1.1, 1.7, 3.0, and 4.7 Gy/min. A bystander clonogenic assay and medium transfer technique were used to acquire survival fractions of reporter cells. When using a cobalt-60 source, a decrease in survival fraction was seen at 0.5 and 5 Gy, but no significant differences were attributed to the varying dose rates used at these doses. A higher exposure at 10 Gy showed increased cell survival relative to controls, but again, no significant differences were observed between different dose rates. The authors then switched to a LINAC source producing 20 MeV electrons. The dose rates were 1.0, 3.0, 5.0, and 10.0 Gy/min. Similar to the experiment with cobalt-60, the reporter cells experienced a reduction in survival at 0.5 and 5 Gy but no differences were seen between the different dose rates. The 10 Gy irradiation caused an increase in cell survival, however, unlike in the previous experiment, there was a statistically significant difference observed with the 10.0 Gy/min dose rate relative to the lower dose rates used (Gow et al., 2007). Although a dose rate-dependent effect was not seen while using a cobalt-60 source, there was a significant difference observed with high dose rates at high doses in the 20 MeV electron irradiation group.

Realizing that this experimental parameter had long been neglected within the literature, Vo *et al.* (2019) conducted experiments that aimed to elucidate how dose rate influences the survival fraction and mitochondrial membrane potential (a measure of damage to the mitochondrial physiology) outcomes in different epithelial cells. Gamma rays with dose rates of 24.6, 109, 564, and 1168 mGy/min were used to irradiate HaCaT, HCT 116 p53+/+, and HCT116 p53 -/- cells. In HaCaT cells, clonogenic survival results and mitochondrial membrane potential at all doses were similar between the various dose rates tested. In HCT116 cells with p53 wild-type and null expression, no significant difference in clonogenic survival was detected between all of the tested dose rates (Vo *et al.*, 2019). However, it was found that mitochondrial membrane potential in HCT116 p53 mult cells were more nuanced and the authors concluded that, "when p53 is absent, the loss of [mitochondrial membrane potential] is more serious at low dose/dose rate but alleviated at high dose" (Vo *et al.*, 2019).

A very recent publication presented a novel phenomenon in the radiobiology literature: the emission of acoustic waves from irradiated cell cultures. In the experiment, MCF-7 and HL-60 cells were exposed to 1 Gy of x-ray photons and the sound generated by the cells was recorded before, during, and after irradiation. Both cell lines produced an acoustic signal that was induced by the radiation. The magnitude of the emission was shown to be dependent on the dose rate and can be observed above 0.2 Gy/min (Matarese *et al.*, 2023). Although this is not clear evidence for the role of dose rate in the biological bystander effect process, it shows the complexity of the processes, how they

can be influenced by many different factors, and how dose rate may play a larger role than previously thought.

Throughout the modern bystander effect era, there have been a limited number of publications that systematically explored the effect of radiation dose rates on the radiation-induced bystander effect. Those that did appear to show that dose rate has little to no effect on bystander outcomes except for at high doses with very high dose rates. Almost all publications pertaining to this area agree on one thing: more research needs to be conducted to truly understand the effects and to ensure that future researchers do not unknowingly introduce a confounding variable into their experiments.

### 1.14 The Chosen Factors: Dose

It is well documented that, in conventional radiation experiments, as radiation dose increases, cellular damage increases, levels of markers of DNA damage increase and cell survival is reduced (Heeran *et al.*, 2019). This phenomenon was also investigated in bystander cultures. In 1998, Prise *et al.* irradiated human fibroblasts with either x-rays or alpha particles to discern whether any bystander effects were induced. Both micronuclei formation and apoptotic cell numbers were investigated. The authors reported a "dose-dependent production of micronucleated and apoptotic cells three days after irradiation for both x-rays and a-particles" (Prise *et al.*, 1998).

However, this was not an isolated publication. Many studies indicated that total dose influences the radiation-induced bystander effect. While investigating the contribution of bystander cell killing to the low-dose region of the radiation dose-response curve, Seymour and Mothersill (2000) found that, in human keratinocytes, clonogenic cell

death at the 0.01 – 0.5 Gy range occurs solely from bystander effects. There is a "saturation" of the effect around the 0.03 – 0.05 Gy range. At doses over 0.5 Gy, any cell killing is, "the result of a dose-dependent non-bystander effect and a dose-independent bystander effect" (Seymour & Mothersill, 2000). This publication showed that bystander signals induce the same magnitude of effect across the dose range studied and that the bystander effect is predominant in exposures under 0.5 Gy (Seymour & Mothersill, 2000).

Furthermore, increased mitochondrial mass within cells is a known marker of chromosomal damage as is increased expression of BCL2, a gene critical to the regulation of apoptosis in cells. Researchers explored clonogenic survival, mitochondrial mass, and BCL2 expression in human keratinocytes that were exposed to an irradiated cell-conditioned medium. As the dose increased, bystander colonies had reduced survival relative to controls. Moreover, at doses of 5 mGy and 0.5 Gy, a significant increase in mitochondrial mass was observed. There was not a significant effect seen at 5 Gy. Reporter cells also saw a decrease in BCL2 expression at 5 mGy and 0.5 Gy, whereas a significant increase in expression was observed at 5 Gy (Maguire *et al.*, 2005). The data show how radiation dose can influence the biological changes and outcomes seen in bystander cultures.

The overall understanding of these effects *in vivo* is important for radiotherapy and risk calculations. The majority of experiments are conducted in an *in vitro* environment and, seeking to take it one step closer to an *in vivo* model, Vines *et al.* (2009) conducted a study to see how the bystander effect manifests in a multicellular primary tissue culture system *in vitro*. Medium from irradiated murine bladder samples were used to culture

reporter HPV-G cells. It was shown that c-myelocytomatosis (a protein linked to apoptosis) and uroplakin III (a protein linked to cellular differentiation) saw dose-dependent changes occur in cells exposed to 0.5 Gy or 5 Gy (Vines *et al.*, 2009).

Tomita *et al.* (2012) noticed that normal diploid human lung fibroblasts experienced various levels of cell killing in microbeam irradiation experiments at various doses. There was a significant reduction in cell survival at doses of 0.47 Gy and it reached a maximum reduction at 1.2 Gy. However, no significant effect was seen between 2.3 and 7 Gy. The survival fraction stayed at around 90% consistently after 14 Gy. The authors concluded that the x-ray induced bystander effect must be dose dependent (Tomita *et al.*, 2012).

Not all studies observe a dose-dependent bystander effect, however. Soleymanifard and Toossi Bahreyni (2012) conducted medium transfer experiments on QU-DB cancer cells and MRC5 normal lung cells. Micronuclei formation was used as an endpoint for cellular damage. The authors found that there was an increased number of micronucleated cells in QU-DB cultures as the dose increased, pointing towards dosedependence. However, the same effect was not seen in the normal cell cultures. MRC5 cultures had a similar number of micronucleated cells across all doses, indicating that, "their response was not dose-dependent" (Soleymanifard & Toossi Bahreyni, 2012).

Contrasting this, normal human skin fibroblasts were shown to have a dosedependent increase in micronucleus formation during an experiment that tested how different qualities of radiation affect the bystander effect. Autsavapromporn *et al.* (2013) exposed cells in a gap-junction communication experiment to various doses of x-rays, carbon ions, neon ions, and argon ions. Across all radiation types, as the dose increased, so did the percentage of cells with micronuclei, confirming that there was a dosedependent response (Autsavapromporn *et al.*, 2013).

Within the radiation-induced bystander effect literature, most studies indicate a dose-dependent effect up to a certain threshold dose. After the threshold is reached, the dose-response is "saturated" and higher doses will not impart more bystander signalling or cellular response. Markers of DNA damage, such as BCL2 expression or micronuclei formation, indicate that dose does affect the magnitude of effect in reporter cells. However, some studies show that not all cell lines react in a dose-dependent manner. As is the case with many of the factors discussed in this section, more research is required to further understand this relationship.

# **Chapter 2: Methodology**

### 2.1 Original Study Design

It is important to note that this thesis has gone through different phases, and to acknowledge the work done previously to bring it to the current state. Originally, it was intended to be an overall database consisting of all the data from relevant studies that were researching the radiation-induced bystander effect. This would allow the scientific community to find experimental outcomes quickly. Trends and outliers within the radiation-induced bystander effect literature would be easier to identify and discuss. Approximately 178 papers were manually reviewed and had their data extracted into the original bystander datasheet (Appendix 1). However, due to the variability in research endpoints, this was not feasible as originally intended. Endpoints that were recorded included cell

survival fraction, intracellular calcium levels, percentage of cMyc-positive cells, and levels of nuclear fragmentation, among many others. Unfortunately, including all of recorded endpoints would be outside the scope of this project.

### 2.2 Second Iteration of Study Design

It was determined that the best way to move forward from the original study design was to focus on one specific bystander endpoint. This would make the studies more directly comparable and would make any trends identified more compelling. As such, the second collection of data only included studies that looked at cell survival outcomes and provided the data in the form of survival fractions and percentages (Appendix 2). It was decided to focus on studies that shared a very similar experimental design. Inclusion/exclusion criteria (Section 2.5) were revised to allow for the most unambiguous analysis of the data. This led to the creation of the final dataset (Appendix 3) and thesis iteration that will be discussed at length hereinafter.

## 2.3 Final Study Design

After a thorough review of the radiation-induced bystander effect literature, it was decided that the most suitable method of conducting this investigation would be through a rapid review style study design. To begin, a research question was developed and read,

"How do different intrinsic and external factors influence cell survival outcomes during in vitro, radiation-induced, bystander effect experiments?"

To answer this question, a rapid review design would be best. This type of design would allow for ample data collection and synthesis without the need for extra reviewers

or lengthy time frames as is required during full systematic reviews. It still allows for useful quantitative analysis but within a shorter period of time. Unfortunately, one must think critically about the conclusions discussed in a rapid review, as there are fewer studies included and could suffer from selection bias. A systematic review is usually recommended as a follow-up afterwards (Ganann *et al.*, 2010).

Databases such as Ovid, PubMed, Web of Science, and Google Scholar were utilized to ensure that similar research did not exist within the literature at the time of the start of this review. Content experts and academic supervisors were referenced to ensure no duplication of a similar review. As such, this review contains completely original research keeping in line with the requirements laid out by the McMaster School of Graduate Studies.

### 2.4 Thesis Hypotheses

In order to give structure to the thesis and aid in answering the overall research question, 8 hypotheses were formulated based on the common variables found within the radiationinduced bystander effect literature. They are as follows:

1. The reporter cell line has a significant effect on cell survival outcomes in radiation-induced bystander effect experiments.

2. The organ of origin of the reporter cell line has a significant effect on cell survival outcomes in radiation-induced bystander effect experiments.

3. The sex of the reporter cell line has a significant effect on cell survival outcomes in radiation-induced bystander effect experiments.

4. The p53 status of the reporter cell line has a significant effect on cell survival outcomes in radiation-induced bystander effect experiments.

5. The radiation source has a significant effect on cell survival outcomes in radiation-induced bystander effect experiments.

6. The radiation quality/type has a significant effect on cell survival outcomes in radiation-induced bystander effect experiments.

7. The dose rate has a significant effect on cell survival outcomes in radiationinduced bystander effect experiments.

8. The dose has a significant effect on cell survival outcomes in radiation-induced bystander effect experiments.

## 2.5 Inclusion and Exclusion Criteria

The list below outlined the inclusion criteria for the studies that comprised the review:

- Peer-reviewed, journal articles from 1980-2023.
- English language.
- The primary purpose of study was to explore cellular bystander effects/interactions.
- In vitro studies.
- The study used a medium-transfer technique.
- Experimental design used ionizing radiation.

- Investigated survival fraction endpoint (or a normalized survival endpoint).
- Articles that stated the cell-line that was used.
- Articles that stated the doses that were used.
- Experiments where irradiation did not exceed 10Gy.
- Article provided source data in the form of a chart or graph.

To allow for a more homogeneous, high-quality pool of data, the following exclusion criteria were implemented:

- Articles written in a non-English language.
- Experiments used *in vivo* techniques or explant cultures.
- Review papers or poster presentations.
- Studies that did not investigate the radiation-induced bystander effect.
- Articles whereby source data were not provided or displayed in a chart/graph.
- Articles that did not state the cell-lines that were used.
- Studies with doses above 10Gy.
- Studies in which priming doses were used.
- Studies that did not pursue a survival fraction endpoint.
- Non-ionizing radiation bystander effect experiments.

- Studies that used alternate methods of inducing a bystander response, like coculture studies and microbeam irradiation studies.
- Experiments that explored inter-generational effects.
- Studies that measured the magnitude of effect at more than one time after treatment.
- Studies that introduced altering factors, such as chemicals or metals, into the bystander effect experiment design.

### 2.6 Study Selection and Literature Search

After consulting with experts in the radiation-induced bystander effect field, top research groups were identified and their papers were manually reviewed for any articles that would fit the inclusion criteria. The lab groups identified included authors C. Mothersill, C. Seymour, E. Wright, T. Hei, E. Azzam, O. Kovalchuk, M. Kadhim, F. Lyng, K. Price, and K. Held. Any applicable papers were recorded in the Microsoft Excel database.

Afterwards, a literature search strategy was developed (Appendix 4). The strategy was implemented within three major databases. Ovid MEDLINE, Embase, and Web of Science were searched for journal articles from 1974 (earliest database date) to the present day. Search results were then exported from each database into the reference management software, Endnote. Endnote automatically filtered through the overall reference list from the three databases and removed any duplicate articles.

### 2.7 PRISMA

PRISMA (Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses) search guidelines were adhered to and the PRISMA flowchart (Figure 1) outlines how the database results were screened and how the final review articles were selected. After the elimination of any duplicate articles, 10,959 papers entered the "Abstract and Title Search" phase of screening. Each paper was assessed on its title and abstract to determine if it was relevant to the research question. Only 120 studies were eligible for the final, full-text phase of screening of which 21 were selected for addition into the final database.



Figure 1: PRISMA Flowchart outlining study selection process.

# 2.8 Data Extraction

Each study was manually reviewed and had the following data extracted:

- Reference
- Donor Cell Line
- Reporter Cell Line
- Organ of Origin of the Donor Cell Line
- Organ of Origin of the Reporter Cell Line
- Sex of the Donor Cell Line
- Sex of the Reporter Cell Line
- Endpoint Examined
- p53 Status of the Reporter Cell Line
- Radiation Source
- Radiation Type/Quality
- Passage Number
- Dose Rate
- Dose
- Survival Percentage Change
- Overall Increase or Decrease

The final spreadsheet was edited and streamlined to eliminate redundant or useless data and provide more useful information for synthesis. The updated headings are as follows:

- Reference
- Donor Cell Line

- Reporter Cell Line
- Organ of Origin of the Donor Cell Line
- Organ of Origin of the Reporter Cell Line
- Sex of the Donor Cell Line
- Sex of the Reporter Cell Line
- p53 Status of the Reporter Cell Line
- Radiation Source
- Radiation Type
- Radiation Quality (LET)
- Dose Rate
- Dose Rate Range
- Dose
- Dose Range
- Survival Percentage Change

Dose Rate Ranges were defined as follows:

- Low Dose Rate: ≤0.02 Gy/min
- Moderate Dose Rate: 0.02 1 Gy/min
- High Dose Rate: ≥1 Gy/min

Dose Ranges were defined as follows:

- Low Dose: ≤0.5 Gy
- Moderate Dose: 0.5 2 Gy
- High Dose: ≥2 Gy

### 2.9 Quality Assessment of Included Studies

After an exhaustive search, it was determined that there is currently no standardized tool for the quality assessment of *in vitro* studies. It was noted, however, that a study by Khan *et al.* (2014) adapted an established QA tool for their research pertaining to the management of contaminated anterior cruciate ligament grafts. The original tool is known as the Methodological Index for Non-Randomized Studies (MINORS) and was developed by Slim *et al.* in 2003. As such, a further adaptation of the MINORS tool was created for the quality assessment of *in vitro*, radiation-induced bystander effect experiments included in this study and has the following criteria:

1. Clearly stated purpose: "The question addressed in the study is explicitly stated and testable by statistical means" (Khan *et al.*, 2014).

- 0 Purpose not explicitly stated.
- 1 Purpose is explicitly stated but not testable by statistical means.
- 2 Purpose is explicitly stated and testable by statistical means.

2. Endpoints Appropriate to Study Aim: "unambiguous explanation of the criteria used to evaluate the main outcome which should be in accordance with the question addressed by the study. Also, the endpoints should be assessed on an intention-to-treat basis" (Slim *et al.*, 2003).

- 0 Criteria used to evaluate the main outcome are not stated.
- 1 Criteria are explained but are ambiguous or unrelated to the purpose of the study.
- 2 Criteria are unambiguous and related to the purpose of the study.

3. Prospective Calculation of Study Size: "Data were collected according to a protocol established before the beginning of the study" (Slim *et al.*, 2003).

- 0 The data collection protocol is not stated or explained.
- 1 Use of novel data collection protocol.
- 2 The protocol was established before the beginning of the study.
- 4. Cell line type: Cell line information is explicitly stated and well described.
  - 0 No cell line information present.
  - 1 The cell line is stated but does not include the rationale for the usage of the cell line or origin.
  - 2 Cell line is mentioned and includes rationale and origin for the cell line.
- 5. In vitro culture techniques: The culture techniques are well-described.
  - 0 Not adequately described.
  - 1 Described but missing pertinent information (culture time, storage conditions, medium used, etc.)
  - 2 Culture techniques are well-described and reproducible.

6. Baseline equivalence of groups: The groups should be similar regarding the criteria other than the studied endpoints. Absence of confounding factors that could bias the interpretation of the results.

- 0 Groups are not similar and there are many confounding factors.
- 1 Groups are similar, but confounding factors are not accounted for.

2 - Groups are similar are there are minimal/no confounding factors.

7. Adequate control groups: Using a sufficient number of control groups to minimize error and increase the statistical significance of results.

- 0 Control groups not adequately described.
- 1 A Control group of 1 flask.
- 2 A control group of 3 or more flasks.
- 8. Irradiation protocol: The protocol for the irradiation of cells is described.
  - 0 Not adequately described.
  - 1 Protocol is described but with limited information (i.e., Dose is mentioned but not dose rate).
  - 2 Protocol is described fully (i.e., Dose, dose rate, and timing are mentioned).

9. Bystander assay/technique: Description of how bystander effect was achieved and studied.

- 0 Bystander assay not adequately described.
- 1 Bystander assay described but insufficient (Seeding density, flask size, timing, medium transfer, or filtration not described).
- 2 Bystander assay is well-described and includes all pertinent information.

10. Appropriate statistical analysis: Description and implementation of statistical tests appropriate to the dataset (Khan *et al.*, 2014).

- 0 No statistical analysis mentioned.
- 1 Statistical analysis described but insufficient (missing P values).
- 2 Statistical analysis well-described with reported P values.

The tool is a checklist of 10 items. Each item can be scored anywhere from 0-2. A score of "0" indicates that item was not reported. A score of "1" indicates that the item was reported but was inadequate in the outlined way. A score of "2" idicates that the item was reported in an adequate way. A total score above 18 is considered low risk for bias. Any total score between 15 and 18 is considered at medium risk for bias. Any total score below 15 is considered a high risk for bias. The ideal total score is 20 for *in vitro* bystander effect experiments. Each included study has a corresponding score which can be found in the last column of the Quality Assurance Scoring Sheet (Appendix 5).

#### 2.10 Data Analysis – Graphing Techniques

Over 600 individual data points were entered into the Excel spreadsheet, each with multiple intrinsic and external factors attached to them. Due to the amount of data that was collected, scatter plots were used as a visual tool. Scatter plots allow for easy visualization of trends and are suitable for the non-linear relationship exhibited by this dataset. GraphPad Prism 9 was the graphing software used for the initial graphs. Dose values were plotted on the x-axis. Survival percentage change values were plotted on the y-axis. The overall scatter plot (Figure 3) shows the distribution of data without any grouping variables. All the subsequent scatter plots have grouping variables included and the legend for each graph shows the groups and their associated colour. This allows the

reader to easily discern any trends or areas of interest related to each intrinsic or external factor. Due to time constraints, only reporter cell line data were plotted and analyzed.

Due to the nature of radiation-induced bystander effect experiments, data points were highly concentrated at commonly used doses such as 0.5 Gy, 1 Gy, 2 Gy, and 5 Gy. It was extremely difficult to distinguish between different data points. As such, a different graphing software, Orange, was used to provide an alternate view of the data. Scatter plots were still implemented, however, a technique known as "jittering" was applied to each point. The technique applies a random noise variable to each data point, allowing for increased spatial resolution and readability.

Unfortunately, the data were still incomprehensible. Some variables, such as "Reporter Cell Line", had as many as 50 separate groups within the dataset. It was decided that, for ease of comprehension, only the top 10 most populous groups within each variable would be plotted on graphs. This resulted in a simpler visual as fewer data were displayed.

Box plots were also generated in Orange to allow for easier visualization of the distribution of data within each variable. The comparison of quartiles, as well as the mean and median, allows for more robust data analysis.

### 2.11 Data Analysis – Statistical Techniques

The large amount of data, combined with the heterogeneity of studies, made statistical analysis a challenge. Using Orange, the data were shown to be normally distributed. As such, this allowed for the use of parametric statistical tests. However, there were multiple variables and multiple groups within each variable. Therefore, it was decided that the best

test to perform would be a Two-Way Analysis of Variance (ANOVA). A Two-Way ANOVA would be executed on six out of eight of the chosen factors (due to time constraints) and would show how that particular factor, along with dose, affects the survival percentage change of bystander cells.

The statistical analysis software, R, was used to perform these calculations. Any blank or "N/A" rows were removed and only the top 10 most populous groups within each variable would be included in the ANOVA results. ANOVA tables were generated and the F-ratio as well as the resulting p-value were recorded.

### 2.12 Outlier Detection and Normality Confirmation

To determine if there were any statistical outliers in the dataset, the generalized extreme studentized deviate (ESD) test was used. This test was developed in 1983 by Bernard Rosner and is useful to determine outliers when the exact number of outliers are unable to be specified exactly. The survival percentage change values were tested within R and, for each variable, it was determined that the value of 139 was a statistical outlier. As such, it was removed before any ANOVA tests were run.

A visual confirmation to assess the normality of data was done through the use of a histogram. The distribution of the survival percentage change values was plotted and a curve of best fit was overlayed (Figure 2). Based on the large sample size ( $n \ge 300$ ), skewness and kurtosis were assessed in R to ensure the visual confirmation was accurate (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). The dataset has a skew value of -0.21 (slightly negative) and a kurtosis value of 1.60. The distribution of data are considered to be normal if the absolute values of skewness and kurtosis are  $\leq 2$  and  $\leq 4$ , respectively (Gupta *et al.*, 2019). As such, it was concluded that the data follows a normal distribution.



Figure 2: Histogram of Survival Percentage Change Values.

# **Chapter 3: Results**

#### 3.1 Brief Overview

There are 674 total data points from 67 studies that were compiled into an "overall" scatter plot (Figure 3). The scatter plot shows the wide range of survival fraction values that are recorded in the included literature. The x-axis displays dose values used to irradiate donor cells during each experiment. The y-axis demonstrates "Survival Percentage Change" which is the change in percentage cell survival of recipient cells after being grown using medium from irradiated donor cells, relative to control cultures. A "jittered" scatter plot

was added to aid in visualization (Figure 4). Each hypothesis has been addressed with the use of two scatter plots, a conventional plot, and a jittered plot. Box plots were also used to help show the dispersion of data within each grouping variable. Due to time constraints, only six of the hypotheses were tested with Two-Way ANOVA. The reporter cell line used, the p53 status of the reporter cell line, and the type of radiation showed a significant effect on the survival percentage change seen in bystander cells.

### **3.2 Overall Results**

Graphs produced with the overall dataset indicate that the majority of experiments resulted in a reduction in survival percentage (approximately 71.6% of the data). The overall dataset had a mean survival percentage change of -17.4 and a standard deviation of 27.9. Figure 3 shows that data are highly concentrated at commonly studied doses such as 0.5 Gy, 1 Gy, 2 Gy, and 5 Gy, which make it difficult to visualize individual points. Due to the nature of the graph and the fact that most experiments use discrete dose values, points are arranged in vertical columns with many of the points overlapping. The jittered version of this graph (Figure 4) attempts to remedy this by spreading out the plotted values. Studies seldom investigated interval dose values (ie. 1.5 Gy, 2.5 Gy, 3.5 Gy, etc.) and there are noticeably fewer plotted values between 5 Gy and 10 Gy. These two graphs do not show an obvious trend when comparing survival percentage change with increasing dose. The overall dispersion of points at each dose value is skewed towards a reduction in survival percentage, but increased survivability is demonstrated as well, albeit, to a lesser degree. Among the included studies, the greatest increase in survival percentage was 74, while the largest reduction in survival percentage was -99.



Figure 3: Overall Survival Percentage Change Data from Included Studies. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.



Figure 4: Alternate Graph of Overall Bystander Effect Data from Included Studies. Data points have been jittered and opacity reduced for better visualization. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.

### 3.3 Reporter Cell Line Results

Over 40 unique reporter cell lines were recorded within the final included studies. For ease of visual interpretation, the top 10 most prevalent reporter cell lines were chosen to be displayed in the scatter plot. Figure 5 shows that HPV-G was the most common reporter cell line used and accounted for 26.8% of the data, while HeLa was the least common of the top 10 and accounted for only 1.8% of the data. Unfortunately, the high concentrations of plotted values at the commonly used doses made it difficult to identify trends, even with the addition of a coloured grouping variable. The jittered data displayed in Figure 6 made it easier to see where different cell lines are clustered and help to show how each reporter cell line's bystander survivability is affected by increasing dose. A Two-Way ANOVA was performed and results are summarized in Table 1. Simple main effects analysis showed that the reporter cell line did have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change ( $p = \langle 2e.16 \rangle$ ) while the dose did not have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 0.19). The cell line, GM637H, did not show any reduction in survival within the included studies (M = 17.7, SD = 8.2). HeLa, on the other hand, exhibited a noticeably large decrease in survival within the included studies (M = -88.1, SD = 3.8). The other eight cell lines show less drastic changes in survival percentage with mean values ranging from -3.3 (CH0-K1) to -47 (SW48). Box plot data for each individual cell line are displayed in Figure 7. Table 2 shows the number of studies within each subgroup.


Figure 5: Survival Percentage Change Data for the 10 most prevalent Reporter Cell Lines in Included Studies. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.



Figure 6: Alternate Graph of Survival Percentage Change Data for the 10 most prevalent Reporter Cell Lines in Included Studies. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.

Source of Variation	Df	SS	MS	F	p-value
Cell Line	9	126149	14017	24.255	<2e-16 ***
Dose	2	1913	956	1.655	0.19
Residuals	420	242708	578		

Table 1: Two-Way ANOVA Table Results for Reporter Cell Line variable. \*\*\* indicates significance where  $\alpha = 0.05$ .



Figure 7: Box Plot of Survival Percentage Change Data for the 10 most prevalent Reporter Cell Lines in Included Studies.

Cell Line	Number of Plotted Data
CHO-K1	24
GM637H	16
HCT 116	45
HPV-G	181
HT29	17
HaCaT	66
HeLa	12
SW48	40
T98G	31
T/C28a2	16

Table 2: Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Cell Line subgroup.

# 3.4 Organ of Origin of Reporter Cell Line Results

It was difficult to plot the organ of origin results due to the fact that there were over 20 unique organs of origin, an issue identical to the one faced while attempting to plot the reporter cell line results. Therefore, an identical solution was used. The top 10 most prevalent organs of origin were subsequently plotted. All organs were of human origin with the exception of "H. Ovary" which represents "Hamster Ovary". Figure 8 shows that skin was the most common organ of origin for reporter cell lines and accounted for 43.9% of the data. The least common organ of origin within the top 10 was the spleen which only accounted for 1.3% of the data. The alternate, jittered scatter plot (Figure 9) shows that skin, colon, hamster ovary, and brain outnumber other organs by a substantial margin. Together, they account for 78.4% of all data within the included studies. A Two-Way ANOVA was not performed on this variable due to time constraints. The organ of origin box plot (Figure 10) shows that the spleen was the only organ with a positive mean survival percentage change of 2.7. The only cell line originating from the uterus is the HeLa cell line which shares the same notable decrease in survival that was discussed in the previous section (M = -88.1, SD = 3.8). All other organs of origin results are concentrated closer to the overall mean of -17.4 with colon and skin having the largest standard deviations of 33.2 and 26.3, respectively. Table 3 shows the number of studies within each subgroup.



Figure 8: Survival Percentage Change Data for the 10 most prevalent Organs of Origin from Reporter Cell Lines in Included Studies. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.



Figure 9: Alternate Graph of Survival Percentage Change Data for the 10 most prevalent Organs of Origin from Reporter Cell Lines in Included Studies. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.



Figure 10: Box Plot of Survival Percentage Change Data for the 10 most prevalent Organs of Origin from Reporter Cell Lines in Included Studies.

Organ	Number of Plotted Data
Bladder	13
Bone	22
Brain	58
Breast	11
Colon	103
H.Ovary	67
Lung	20
Skin	296
Spleen	9
Uterus	12

Table 3: Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Organ subgroup.

### 3.5 Sex of Reporter Cell Line Results

Only four groups were needed when sorting the data by sex of the reporter cell line. Male was the most common and accounted for 63.6% of the data. Studies that used female cell lines accounted for 31.7% of the data. The third group is "M/F" which denotes a mixed karyotype whereby the reporter cell lines were isolated from a mixed population. This is attributable to experiments that used fish cell lines, such as RTG-2. The M/F group accounted for 3.4% of the data. The final group was for unspecified cell lines where sex could not be definitively determined and was labelled as "N/A". Studies that listed "normal human lung fibroblasts", for example, were included in this group and accounted for only 1.2% of the data. Both the M/F and N/A subgroups were excluded from the statistical analysis. Survival percentage change results are plotted in Figure 11. The alternate, jittered scatter plot (Figure 12) shows that there is not an obvious trend, even when grouping by sex of the reporter cell line. A Two-Way ANOVA was performed and a simple main effects analysis (Table 4) showed that the sex of the reporter cell line and dose did not have a significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 0.07 and p = 0.78, respectively). None of the groups varied drastically when comparing results in the box plot (Figure 13). The mixed karyotype group, M/F, was the only group with a positive mean survival percentage change value of 4.1. Both male and female cell lines displayed similar results. Male cell lines had a mean of -16.7 and a standard deviation of 24.6 while female cell lines had a mean of -20.8 and a standard deviation of 33.3. Table 5 shows the number of studies within each subgroup.



Figure 11: Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Sex of the Reporter Cell Line. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis. "M/F" denotes animal cell lines where sex was potentially mixed. "N/A" denotes studies where sex information was unable to be obtained.



Figure 12: Alternate Graph of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Sex of the Reporter Cell Line. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis. "M/F" denotes animal cell lines where sex was potentially mixed. "N/A" denotes studies where sex information was unable to be obtained.

Source of Variation	Df	SS	MS	F	p-value
Sex	1	2505	2504.5	3.242	0.07
Dose	2	381	190.4	0.246	0.78
Residuals	636	491315	772.5		

Table 4: Two-Way ANOVA Table Results for Sex of Reporter Cell Line variable. \*\*\* indicates significance where  $\alpha = 0.05$ .



Figure 13: Box Plot of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Sex of the Reporter Cell Line.

Sex	Number of Plotted Data
Female	213
M/F	23
Male	429
N/A	8

Table 5: Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Sex subgroup.

### 3.6 p53 Status of Reporter Cell Line Results

The p53 status of reporter cells was grouped into four categories. "Mutant", where p53 proteins exist but in an altered state from normal. The wild-type group, labelled as "wt", is where the tumour suppressor gene p53 is functioning as expected in nature. The third category, "null", is for cell lines that have no functioning p53 proteins. Lastly, "N/A" is used to denote cell lines where the p53 status could not be confirmed from the information given in the study or by searching online. Most studies used cell lines with mutant p53 status as can be seen in Figure 14. It accounts for 38.3% of data. The second-most prevalent group was "null" with 34.7% of the data. Wild-type was less pronounced in the included studies and made up 23.3% of included data. Only 3.7% of the cell lines were unable to have their p53 status confirmed and were added to the "N/A" group. Due to the large amount of included data, it is important to reference Figure 15, which provides an alternate view and allows one to discern otherwise overlapping points. A Two-Way ANOVA was performed and results are summarized in Table 6. Simple main effects analysis showed that the p53 status of the reporter cell line did have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 1.08e-05) while the dose did not have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 0.78). Both mutant (M = -16.9, SD =27.4) and null (M = -13.9, SD = 25.2) had similar means and standard deviations which can be seen in Figure 16. Wild-type p53 status did produce, on average, slightly more negative survival fraction outcomes (M = -26.98, SD = 29.6). Table 7 shows the number of studies within each subgroup.



Figure 14: Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by p53 Status of the Reporter Cell Line. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis. "N/A" denotes studies where p53 status was unable to be confirmed.



Figure 15: Alternate Graph of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by p53 Status of the Reporter Cell Line. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis. "N/A" denotes studies where sex information was unable to be obtained.

Source of Variation	Df	SS	MS	F	p-value
p53 Status	2	16791	8396	11.641	1.08e-05***
Dose	2	356	178	0.247	0.78
Residuals	639	460877	721		

Table 6: Two-Way ANOVA Table Results for p53 Status of Reporter Cell Line variable. \*\*\* indicates significance where  $\alpha = 0.05$ .





Figure 16: Box Plot of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by p53 Status of the Reporter Cell Line.

p53 Status	Number of Plotted Data	
N/A	25	
mutant	257	
null	234	
wt	157	

Table 7: Table displaying the number of plotted data within each p53 Status subgroup.

### 3.7 Radiation Source Results

There were 7 different radiation sources that were listed within the included studies and groups can be seen in Figure 17. Cobalt-60, a radioactive isotope of cobalt that produces gamma rays, was the most common radiation source and accounted for 54.2% of the data. The least common source found within the included studies was Plutonium-238, a radioactive isotope of plutonium that emits alpha particles and only accounted for 0.2% of the data. Only 1 study included plutonium which can be easily seen near the y-axis of Figure 18. Unfortunately, mean and standard deviation were not able to be calculated for plutonium and a box plot was not produced for that source (Figure 19). "X-Ray Irradiation Unit" is a broad term used for any devices or sources that produced x-rays as a means of experimental irradiation. LINACs were grouped into "Particle Accelerators" for ease of data plotting and statistical analysis. Figure 19 shows that experiments that used Americium-241 (M = -72.7, SD = 27.6) produced markedly reduced survival percentages compared with the other radiation sources. Table 8 shows the number of studies within each subgroup.



Figure 17: Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Radiation Source used. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.



Figure 18: Alternate Graph of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Radiation Source used. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.



Figure 19: Box Plot of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Radiation Source used. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis. Unable to generate box plot for Pu-238 due to small sample size (n=1).

## M.Sc. Thesis - C.Gresham | McMaster University - Department of Physics and Astronomy

<b>Radiation Source</b>	Number of Plotted Data
Am-241	4
Co-60	365
Cs-137	83
Particle Accelerator	114
Pu-238	1
Tritium	14
X-Ray Irradiation Unit	92

Table 8: Table displaying the number of plotted data within each Radiation Source subgroup.

# 3.8 Radiation Type Results

There were nine different radiation types within the included studies. Gamma radiation was the most common with 66.6% of the total data and can be seen throughout the survival percentage change scatter plot (Figure 20). Proton radiation was the least common accounting for just 0.5% of the data. "Electron" represents electron beam radiation and is grouped separately from beta radiation. A significant portion of beta, alpha, Fe ion, proton, and Carbon ion radiation data are confined to doses under 1 Gy as shown in Figure 21. A Two-Way ANOVA was performed and results are summarized in Table 9. Simple main effects analysis showed that radiation type did have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 3.67e-05) while dose did not have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 0.92). Figure 22 shows that the included proton radiation data were particularly dissonant from the other radiation type data (M = -88.3, SD = 3.4). Neutron radiation was the only type that produced a positive mean survival percentage change (M = 1.4, SD = 8.0). Table 10 shows the number of studies within each subgroup.



Figure 20: Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Radiation Type. Dose values are on the *x*-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the *y*-axis.



Figure 21: Alternate Graph of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Radiation Type. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.

Source of Variation	Df	SS	MS	F	p-value
Rad Type	8	25149	3143.6	4.374	3.67e-05 ***
Dose	2	124	62.0	0.086	0.92
Residuals	653	469300	718.7		

Table 9: Two-Way ANOVA Table Results for Radiation Type variable. \*\*\* indicates significance where  $\alpha$  = 0.05.



Figure 22: Box Plot of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Radiation Type. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis.

Radiation Type	Number of Plotted Data
Gamma	448
X-ray	134
Neutron	7
Electron	24
Beta	14
Alpha	24
Fe lon	8
Proton	3
Carbon lon	10

Table 10: Table displaying the number of plotted data within each radiation type subgroup.

### 3.9 Dose Rate Results

Dose rates were recorded within the final bystander results spreadsheet (Appendix 3). However, many studies used different dose rates and some only had negligible differences (i.e., 1.2 Gy/min vs 1.99 Gy/min). To reduce the number of groups and allow for less complex statistical analysis, it was decided to group dose rates into ranges. As such, "Low" is for dose rates less than or equal to 0.02 Gy/min, "Moderate" is for dose rates between 0.02 and 1 Gy/min, and "High" is for dose rates greater than or equal to 1 Gy/min. "N/A" was reserved for studies that did not disclose the dose rate used. The overall dispersion of the dose rate data can be seen in Figure 23. Most studies used high or moderate dose rates which accounted for 45.2% and 36.3% of the data. Only 1.5% of the included studies used a source that delivered a dose rate of less than or equal to 0.02 Gy/min. Logically, low dose rates were used for low doses while moderate and high dose rates were commonly used for doses higher than 1 Gy (Figure 24). 16.9% of included studies did not record or disclose the dose rate of the source that was used. A Two-Way ANOVA was performed and results are summarized in Table 11. Simple main effects analysis showed that dose rate and dose did not have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 0.57 and p = 0.42, respectively). High and moderate dose rates resulted in similar survival outcomes and their means only differed by a value of 0.3 (Figure 25). Table 12 shows the number of studies within each subgroup.



Figure 23: Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Dose Rate Range used. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis. "N/A" denotes studies where Dose Rate information was unable to be obtained.



Figure 24: Alternate Graph of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Dose Rate Range used. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis. "N/A" denotes studies where Dose Rate information was unable to be obtained.

Source of Variation	Df	SS	MS	F	p-value
Rate	2	852	426	0.564	0.57
Dose	2	1318	659	0.872	0.42
Residuals	569	430019	756		

Table 11: Two-Way ANOVA Table Results for Dose Rate variable. \*\*\* indicates significance where  $\alpha = 0.05$ .





Figure 25: Box Plot of Survival Percentage Change Data for Included Studies grouped by Dose Rate Range used. Dose values are on the x-axis. Survival Percentage Change values are on the y-axis. "N/A" denotes studies where Dose Rate information was unable to be obtained.

Dose Rate	Number of Plotted Data
High	322
Low	10
Moderate	245
N/A	96

Table 12: Table displaying the number of plotted data within each dose rate subgroup.

# **Chapter 4: Discussion**

# 4.1 Overall Discussion

There are numerous experimental parameters, present in the current bystander effect literature, that are often different or variable between experiments. Although they were investigating the same endpoint, it was not uncommon to find lab groups that used different cell lines which had their own intrinsic differences such as organ of origin, sex of the original donor, and p53 status. Available tools and resources also differed between lab groups. A common variable factor identified was the radiation source that was used. These produced different types of incident radiation that often had variable dose rates. Certain experimental designs have been standardized due to their usefulness and accuracy in reproducing significant results. As such, these rarely differed in any meaningful way between lab groups. Furthermore, experiments regularly explored cellular responses at discrete dose levels, such as 0.5, 1, 2, and 5 Gy. The aim of this thesis was to document and bring to light the heterogeneity of the bystander effect literature as well as investigate how the chosen factors influence cell survival outcomes during *in vitro* radiation-induced bystander effect experiments.

Although the individual parameters were explored separately, the overall results, shown in Figure 3 and Figure 4, provided some useful insights. There was a wide range of survival outcomes present within the included studies. The greatest increase in survival percentage was 74 relative to control groups, while the largest decrease in survival percentage was 99 relative to control groups. The mean survival percentage change was -17.4 and 71.6% of the included experiments saw an overall reduction in survival across

### M.Sc. Thesis – C.Gresham | McMaster University – Department of Physics and Astronomy

all dose values. Although dose can be described as a continuous variable, most experiments investigated discrete dose values, as mentioned in the previous paragraph. The relatively high density of data points at 0.5, 1, 2, and 5 Gy show how common these dose levels were within the literature. Only a few research groups investigated the effects of doses between 5 and 10 Gy. Overall trends were difficult to discern due to the sheer amount of overlapping data that was visualized, but one can see that, although there were many plot points in the "negative" region (indicating a reduction in survival), there were also a fair number of recorded instances where exposure to bystander signals caused an increase in survival in reporter cultures.

The results demonstrated the marked variation in survival outcomes are in the bystander effect literature. This could be due to differences in any of the chosen factors that will be discussed in subsequent sections. The data do not contradict the current understanding of the radiation-induced bystander effect. Similarly volatile results were reported by Mothersill *et al.* (2002) after exposing 13 different cell lines to bystander signals. Many showed a reduction in cloning efficiency, but others showed cloning efficiencies that were higher than controls. Some fish cell lines were included in the present review and it is understood that fish cell lines can exhibit a "protective" bystander response as demonstrated by Ryan *et al.* (2008). Moreover, some studies used neutrons to irradiate donor cultures, which have been shown to induce a radio-adaptive response (Suzuki *et al.*, 2020). Both of these factors could have increased survival in bystander cultures, resulting in the enhanced variability between the included studies. Ultimately, the data displayed is expected based on previous and current literature.

# 4.2 Discussion of the Effect of Reporter Cell Line

There were many different reporter cell lines present within the included literature. As such, only the top 10 most common cell lines were graphed and analyzed. HPV-G was by far the most common reporter cell line used and exhibited an overall mean reduction in survival after exposure to bystander signals, but also showed increases in survival in some cases. This variability is expected due to the large number of studies that use HPV-G cells as reporter cultures. Some of the experiments used fish cell lines as donor cultures which resulted in an increased survival of HPV-G recipient cells relative to controls (O'Neill-Mehlenbacher et al., 2007). Other publications, like the one by Seymour and Mothersill (2000), showed a reduction in the survival of HPV-G reporter cells. Due to their relative radiosensitivity, HPV-G cells exhibit a wide range of responses depending on other experimental factors. HeLa cells showed extremely low bystander survival relative to controls. This may have been due to the small number of included studies that used HeLa cells as the reporter cell line. However, there are a number of publications that demonstrated a pronounced bystander effect in HeLa reporter cell cultures (Autsavapromporn et al., 2012; Giovanna Gomes Lara et al., 2018; Ilyas et al., 2021). HeLa cells have been used in radiation biology experiments for many years and exhibit impaired survival when exposed to direct radiation (Puck & Marcus, 1956). It would not be unexpected to see a similar trend in HeLa cells exposed to bystander signals. GM637H, on the other hand, only exhibited an increased survival percentage. Experiments with priming doses showed that GM637H fibroblast cells produced a protective bystander response while colorectal cancer cells did not (Schwarz et al., 2008). Furthermore, it was demonstrated that GM637H cells exposed to irradiated cell-

### M.Sc. Thesis – C.Gresham | McMaster University – Department of Physics and Astronomy

conditioned medium from different donor cell lines consistently exhibited an increase in survival (Rajamanickam Baskar *et al.*, 2007). As such, the results seen here were in line with the current scientific understanding. Another cell line, SW48, differed notably from the rest of the group with a mean survival percentage change of -47. These colon cancer cells are known to be highly radiosensitive, even compared with other colon cancer cell lines, so their marked reduction in survival was expected (Dunne *et al.*, 2003). The remaining cell lines that were investigated all saw slight reductions in survival and had mean values similar to the overall mean.

The Two-Way ANOVA results supported the theory that the reporter cell line had a significant effect on survival percentage change ( $p = \langle 2e-16 \rangle$ ). The statistical significance is in line with the first hypothesis outlined in Section 2.4. These results should be considered during future radiation-induced bystander effect experiments. Using cell lines that are known to consistently produce higher or lower survival outcomes may skew a researcher's results one way or another. To make comparisons more direct and produce more powerful results, it is suggested that a standardized reporter cell line be established for bystander effect experiments. Unless the purpose of the study is to compare differences between cell lines, the literature would benefit from a consistent reporter system. From the results presented here, the ideal candidate cell lines would be HCT 116, HPV-G, or HaCaT cell lines. All responded notably to bystander signals but did not exhibit extreme radiosensitivity. More research is required to determine what reporter cell line would be the best suited for a standardized reporter system.

94

# 4.3 Discussion of the Effect of Organ of Origin

As mentioned previously, there are few publications that investigated *in vitro* bystander effects at a tissue-specific level. Tissue-specificity is more easily identifiable in an in vivo model. Therefore, most studies failed to mention the organ of origin of the cell lines that were used during the experiment. This made it difficult to determine the current scientific understanding at a strictly cellular level. The included literature contained over 20 different organs of origin so, to make the data more manageable and presentable, only the top 10 most prevalent organs were graphed. There are a few organ groups that had visually distinct differences and should be mentioned. Both colon and skin exhibited a wide range of survival outcomes within the included literature. This may be due to the fact that skin cell lines and colon cell lines were the two most prevalent reporter cells used, thus exposing them to a wide variety of experimental conditions. Schanz et al. (2012) mentioned that cells from quickly renewing tissues such as the skin or colon, have a stronger response to bystander signals, which is in line with the results seen here. The data from the brain cell lines further support this theory since, although bystander effects were still evident, a more muted response was noted compared with the skin and colon cell lines.

Spleen cell lines had a positive mean survival percentage change which evidently contradicts a large portion of the literature that reported a significant reduction in survival of reporter cells as well as increased presence of markers of DNA damage in spleen cell lines (Grifalconi *et al.*, 2007; He *et al.*, 2014; Zhang *et al.*, 2008). However, this is likely due to experimental differences instead of a factor that is intrinsic to spleen cells. Uterine
cell lines also produced notable results; However, HeLa cells were the only reporter cell line included in this group. The large reduction in survival fits within the current understanding of responses to bystander signals as mentioned in the previous section. This could also be due to the small within-group sample size of the uterus grouping variable which may have skewed results to suggest that there was a significant difference which was not material (Forstmeier *et al.*, 2016). Other organs that were graphed did not show an obvious trend or differ from the mean in an obvious way. It should also be noted that immortalized cells used for *in vitro* experimentation may not yield results that are directly comparable to cells from the organ of origin. Tumour cells are known to behave differently than original host cells and the organ of origin may not have any significant meaning during these *in vitro* experiments.

Due to time constraints, a Two-Way ANOVA was not performed on this factor. As such, interpretations were made solely on visual data provided in Figure 8, Figure 9, and Figure 10. While previous research has focused on *in vivo* models to compare organ responses to bystander effects, these results attempted to demonstrate differences seen within *in vitro* models. Only data from the uterus was visually distinct compared with the rest of the organs that were investigated and this was likely due to a small sample size within the group. It is possible that tissue-specificity is only relevant *in vivo*, where cells of the organ are in their natural state, however, further research is needed to confirm this theory.

### 4.4 Discussion of the Effect of Sex of the Reporter Cell Line

Grouping the data by sex of the reporter cell line was relatively simple. Most cell lines were able to be traced back to their original host and the host's sex was recorded. Only three of the included studies described cell lines in very generic terms, such as "normal human lung fibroblast" or "human skin fibroblasts". As mentioned previously, the sex of these cell lines was simply recorded as "N/A" and was not included in any statistical analysis. Female cell lines appeared to, on average, produce a larger reduction in cell survival according to Figure 11 and Figure 12. This is supported by the box plot in Figure 13 as female cell lines had a mean survival percentage change of -21 with a standard deviation of approximately 33. In comparison, male cell lines had a mean survival percentage change of -17 and a standard deviation of 25. The difference between the sexes didn't reach statistical significance (p = 0.07), however, this still contradicted previous in vivo results which suggested that males may be more susceptible to the radiation-induced bystander effect (Koturbash et al., 2008; Noshchenko et al., 2001; Yahyapour et al., 2018). It is likely that the effects seen in vitro are not directly comparable to those seen in vivo. Cell lines that used a mixed karyotype were labelled "M/F" and the group consisted solely of fish cell lines. Taking this into consideration, a positive mean survival percentage change relative to controls made sense as it has been documented previously that fish cell lines produced a protective bystander response (Ryan et al., 2008). The sex of the reporter cell line is a parameter that is often overlooked in the current literature, although based on the data presented here, that shouldn't be the case. A larger systematic review with wider-reaching inclusion criteria would help elucidate whether the sex variable should be explored further on an *in vitro* level.

### 4.5 Discussion of the Effect of p53 Status

Due to the high concentrations of data present at the commonly investigated dose values, it was difficult to discern precise trends displayed in Figure 14. The alternate, jittered view shown in Figure 15 made it slightly easier to identify patterns within the data. Cells with p53 wt status rarely exhibited an increase in survival in bystander cultures. A large majority were within the negative values, indicating an overall reduction in survival fraction compared with controls. Those with mutant p53 status or null p53 status had more data points concentrated in the positive change area compared with wt cells. However, this increase in survival commonly stayed below 20% and rarely surpassed 40%. Bystander survival percentage change for all p53 statuses was near or below 0 after 5 Gy, although this is likely due to the relatively small amount of data for doses between 5 and 10 Gy. The largest reductions in survival were seen at 5 Gy or less for all cell lines. After this threshold, the limited amount of data that was present didn't drop below a 50% reduction relative to controls. Fish cell lines were unable to have their p53 status confirmed and their status was recorded as "N/A". These were not included in any statistical analysis.

Results from the Two-Way ANOVA indicated that the p53 status of the reporter cell lines did have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 1.08e-05). This was predicted and is in accordance with the current understanding of how p53 plays a role in the radiation-induced bystander effect. Wt cells had the lowest mean bystander survival percentage, with an average change of -27, while mutant and null cells did not exhibit such a drastic reduction. These groups had mean survival percentage change values of approximately -17 and -14, respectively. Wt cells have functioning p53

proteins which ensure cells with DNA damage do not proliferate uncontrollably and aid in the initiation of apoptosis. Considering this, it made sense that wt cells would have the greatest reduction in survival out of the three p53 statuses. Cells with a mutant p53 status have mutations that affect the TP53 gene meaning that the protein will work abnormally but will not necessarily cause a complete lack of function. Different point mutations likely result in the cell having an inhibited function of p53 or even an overactivity of the protein, producing extremely high or extremely low bystander outcomes (Le *et al.*, 2017). In line with this, mutant cells had the greatest increase and decrease in bystander survival. On the other hand, p53 null cell lines have no functioning p53 protein at all and the G1 arrest does not occur. As such, one would expect these cells to have the highest mean bystander survival relative to mutant or wt cultures. Figure 16 shows this hypothesis to be true within the included literature.

Although this is not a novel discovery, it shows how important the p53 status of the reporter cell line is within bystander effect experiments and clearly indicates that it is a factor that should not be ignored. Many publications failed to state the p53 status of the various cell lines that were present during their experiment. Statuses had to be confirmed either through database searches or using previous publications for reference. In an ideal scenario, the p53 status of the donor and reporter cell lines would be confirmed by each lab before conducting their experiment. Since this factor has the ability to influence various outcomes, it is recommended that future research includes the p53 status of each cell line in the methods section of their respective manuscript.

99

### 4.6 Discussion of the Effect of Radiation Source

As mentioned in Section 1.11, the main source of inspiration for investigating this factor was the discrepancy seen in the strength of bystander effect outcomes in experiments that used cobalt-60 as a source and those that used cesium-137 as a source. Both emit gamma rays, albeit with different energies. Cobalt-60 was the most common radiation source used and dominated much of Figure 17 and Figure 18. Results show both increases and decreases in cell survival relative to controls. Cesium-137 produced a noticeable bystander response, however, plot points rarely reached the extreme values that cobalt-60 did, especially with regard to a protective bystander effect. The box plot in Figure 19 confirms this as cobalt-60 had a mean survival percentage change of -18 compared to -9 for cesium-137. It is difficult to hypothesize the reasoning for this discrepancy, however, it should be investigated in subsequent studies.

Americium-241 had a noticeably low mean survival percentage change (-72.75). This source is an alpha emitter and these strong bystander effects are in line with the current understanding of how high LET radiation, such as alpha particles, can induce the radiation-induced bystander effect (Kadhim *et al.*, 2006; Shao *et al.*, 2001; Sowa *et al.*, 2011). Particle accelerators showed similar results to cobalt-60, but this group consists of various heavy particles and doesn't provide much insight into the specific "source". Tritium had a mean survival percentage change of -10 with the smallest standard deviation (+/- 14). This agrees with previous publications that demonstrate that beta particles can induce bystander effects in reporter cultures, although to a lesser degree when compared with alpha particles and heavy ions (Persaud *et al.*, 2007). Furthermore, the included

studies only used tritium for very low-dose exposures, which likely contributed to this overall "muted" response. Experiments that used an x-ray irradiation unit usually saw reductions in bystander survival. These results do not contradict the current literature as x-rays are known to produce bystander effects in reporter systems.

Plutoniumm-238 was a source that only had one recorded use within the included studies. As such, a box plot was unable to be generated in Figure 19. Due to time constraints, a Two-Way ANOVA was not performed on this factor. Therefore, all comparisons were made solely on the visual evidence provided by Figures 17, 18, and 19. The primary objective of including this factor was to elucidate the differences seen between cobalt-60 and cesium-137. Future publications, that focus on the differences seen between sources that produce the same radiation type, would be beneficial to the bystander effect field. Ideally, these publications would seek to understand how their different decay structures may influence the number of "hits" that occur within the cell, and thus, how much damage is communicated. Although grouping the data by the source that was used provided an interesting insight, it is arguably more important to understand the differences between the types of radiation being used in various experiments, which will be discussed further in the next section.

### 4.7 Discussion of the Effect of Radiation Type

The majority of the included bystander experiments used sources that produced gamma radiation. Figures 20 and 21 are dominated by gamma and x-ray radiation types as these accounted for 84% of the data collectively. Both of these radiation types appear to produce less drastic results after 5 Gy, but this is likely due to the lack of data points

present between 5 and 10 Gy. The few studies which used neutron radiation saw relatively modest bystander outcomes which were investigated at very low doses. It is possible for neutron irradiations to be contaminated with gamma rays; however, the included studies used a lead shield to attenuate any gamma radiation, thus eliminating this confounding variable. Experiments that used electrons to irradiate cultures reported slight reductions in cell survival at low doses and the reduction peaked at 5 Gy. At the highest investigated dose of 10 Gy, electron irradiation still induced a reduction in cell survival, albeit to a smaller degree. Beta irradiation was concentrated in the low-dose region of the graph and showed a maximum reduction of bystander survival of 40%. Irradiation with alpha particles resulted in a wide range of bystander survival outcomes with increased survivability around 2.5 Gy and a notable decrease in survival at 4 Gy. The results from alpha particles plateaued around 5 Gy. Iron ions were only used for experiments that investigated doses of 1 Gy or less. These heavy particles produced an increased survival at very low doses and a very noticeable reduction of survival at 1 Gy. Protons were seldom used within the included literature but consistently produced a large reduction in bystander survival at 4 Gy. Lastly, carbon ions saw the greatest survival reduction at very low doses, with a protective bystander response around 2 Gy. At doses above 2 Gy, there was a slight reduction in survival but never more than 20% relative to controls.

All of the included radiation types had mean percentage change values that were similar to the overall mean with a couple of exceptions. Protons had a noticeably large mean reduction which is probably due to the limited number of studies present in the included literature, resulting in a mean reduction that is unlikely to be representative of true survival outcomes seen with this radiation type. Neutron radiation produced a mostly

positive survival percentage change which is in agreement with previous studies that demonstrated that neutrons produced a protective bystander effect in recipient cultures (Suzuki *et al.*, 2020). Another phenomenon to highlight is that x-rays (low LET) had a lower mean reduction compared with alpha particles (high LET), but alpha particles had a much larger standard deviation. This is in line with most of the previous literature that stated that, although low LET radiation is able to induce a bystander effect, more pronounced results were seen with high LET radiation (Anzenberg *et al.*, 2008; Buonanno *et al.*, 2011; Kadhim *et al.*, 2006; Shao *et al.*, 2001).

A Two-Way ANOVA confirmed that radiation type did have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 3.67e-05). Although this agrees with the majority of the current literature, it is recommended that future research focus on individual radiation types that often produce varying results, such as the protective bystander effect seen with neutron radiation or the considerable reduction in bystander survival seen with proton radiation. However, a standardized experimental design that minimizes confounding variables should be implemented for more conclusive results.

### 4.8 Discussion of the Effect of Dose Rate

As explained in Section 3.9, dose rates from the included studies had to be grouped into ranges to allow for simplified plotting and statistical analysis. The majority of the included literature used a high dose rate, most likely because the dose rate inherent to their source was unable to be altered, or to allow for the accumulation of the required dose in a shorter time frame. Both high and moderate dose rates were the most prevalent in the included literature and can be seen dominating Figure 23. No obvious trends were identified for

high or moderate dose rates within Figure 24. Low dose rates accounted for the smallest fraction of the data; under 2%. At very low doses, low dose rates were unable to induce a strong bystander response. However, as the dose increased to 1 Gy, there was a more obvious bystander effect with a survival reduction maximum of 91%. This pointed to a dose-dependent response in the low dose rate group, although more research that focuses on low dose rate effects is needed to confirm this phenomenon. Figure 25 showed that high and moderate dose rates resulted in similar bystander outcomes, while low dose rates induced a larger reduction in survival, on average. However, low dose rates also had a much larger standard deviation, presumably due to the limited number of included studies that actually used low dose rates in this group. Approximately, 17% of studies did not mention the dose rate that was used during experimentation. These were labelled as "N/A" and were not included in statistical analysis.

A Two-Way ANOVA indicated that the dose rate did not have a statistically significant effect on survival percentage change (p = 0.569). This is in line with previous literature, which only reports a dose rate dependence at high doses and high dose rates or does not report a significant dose-rate dependence at all (Gow *et al.*, 2007; Vo *et al.*, 2019). It is recommended that future research focuses on elucidating the dose-response observed with very low dose rates, as this could have applications in radiation protection.

### 4.9 Discussion of the Effect of Dose

Radiation dose is an integral part of any radiobiology experiment. The included literature contained a wide range of dose values. A large majority of these studies researched effects seen at 5 Gy or less, however, studies with doses of up to 10 Gy were included in

this dataset. Each of the chosen factors was plotted with dose as the independent variable, similar to the bystander survival fraction data that was recorded from the included literature. As mentioned previously, common dose values were 0.5, 1, 2, and 5 Gy. Although dose is considered a continuous variable, the incremental dose values that were commonly investigated essentially produced graphs with a discrete independent variable. Only certain factors were analyzed with a Two-Way ANOVA and of those that did, none found that dose had a statistically significant effect on the survival percentage change. The dose was closest to significance while being analyzed alongside the reporter cell line variable (p = 0.192). However, this is most likely due to the fact that the complete dataset had to be modified to include only the top 10 most prevalent cell lines, which reduced the number of data being analyzed by the Two-Way ANOVA relative to other factors.

These results are in line with the current understanding of how dose affects the survival outcomes during bystander effect experiments. It is understood that bystander effect magnitude saturates at a very low dose (approximately 0.5 Gy or below) and that there is not a dose-dependent increase in magnitude as the dose to the donor cells increases (Seymour & Mothersill, 2000). This threshold dose is best observed within the "Reporter Cell Line" factor displayed in Figure 5. HPV-G, for example, showed the lowest bystander survival fractions at around 0.5 Gy. Similar survival percentages were seen in the same cell line at 5 Gy. The cell line, T/C28a2 is another good example of this phenomenon. This cell line showed the greatest reduction in bystander survival at 0.1 Gy. As the dose increased, the overall reduction was less pronounced and plateaued at a modest survival reduction of around 20%. As expected, an increased dose did not

necessarily result in a greater reduction in survival outcomes. In agreement with previous publications, the combined data displayed here indicated that bystander response is not dose-dependent and a threshold dose likely occurs around 0.5 Gy. It is difficult to come to any strong conclusions with regard to this factor due to the high level of variance between experiments. More research is needed to confirm if this phenomenon is seen in all cell lines and how different factors can influence this apparent threshold dose. This information would be beneficial for applications in radiation protection and environmental impact analysis.

### 4.10 Limitations

In general, the research question being investigated in this thesis would be better answered with a systematic review of the bystander literature. Multiple researchers with more allotted time would be able to have wider inclusion criteria, thus giving a better overall representation of the literature. Since there was only one researcher for this project, inclusion criteria had to be quite specific and narrow, which allowed for a manageable number of studies that could be synthesized and analyzed within the required time frame. This may impact the generalizability of the results found in this review. Furthermore, each factor had to be divided into representative groups. Unfortunately, some groups did not have a representative amount of data within them (such as the HeLa cell line group), and results may not be indicative of how these specific groups truly react to bystander signals. This limits the generalizability of these particular groups.

106

The extensive amount of data within the included studies was difficult to analyze. Smaller groups were created to allow for clearer graphing and easier statistical analysis. For example, within the "Radiation Source" factor, the group "Particle Accelerators" includes many different particle accelerators as well as LINACs. More specific differences seen within the groups themselves may be missed. Moreover, due to time constraints, not all of the chosen factors were analyzed by a Two-Way ANOVA. As such, any conclusions drawn from these factors are based solely on visual data presented within the figures of the thesis and do not have the backing of statistical tests, significantly impacting their reliability.

Lastly, it would be ideal for each of these factors to be isolated and tested individually. Due to the nature of this review, confounding variables were unable to be removed when comparing how each factor could influence bystander survival outcomes. A Two-Way ANOVA was chosen to test the main variables in question; the chosen factor and the dose used. However, it would be more representative to conduct an Eight-Way ANOVA that accounts for all of the chosen variables. This would, unfortunately, be outside of the scope of the current review.

## **Chapter 5: Conclusion**

This review aimed to identify which chosen factors influence cell survival outcomes during *in vitro*, radiation-induced bystander effect experiments. Based on a quantitative analysis using a Two-Way ANOVA parametric test, it was shown that the reporter cell line, p53 status of the reporter cell line, and incident radiation type are important factors that impact the results of bystander effect experiments. Many factors had to be divided into manageable groups of unequal sizes which, overall, affects the generalizability of the results. Nonetheless, this review gives new insight into how these chosen factors influence bystander cell survival outcomes and highlights the heterogeneity of the literature and the difficulty of comparing one study to another within the bystander effect field. Based on the presented findings, it is essential for future researchers to include all of the chosen factors within the methods section of their manuscript. Additionally, it is recommended that a full systematic review of the literature be conducted to strengthen or contrast the claims made in this rapid review. Future research would benefit from using a multi-factorial ANOVA to analyze all of the confounding variables discussed here. The radiation-induced bystander effect is a complex biological phenomenon that can be influenced by many factors and the scientific community must work together to fully elucidate its intricacies. This review emphasizes the importance of creating a standardized bystander effect model and suggests ways to improve future research, paving the way for more compelling discoveries in the years to come.

# **Chapter 6: Appendices**

## **Appendix 1: Original Excel Spreadsheet**



## **Appendix 2: Second Version of Excel Spreadsheet**



## **Appendix 3: Final Excel Spreadsheet**



## **Appendix 4: Literature Search Strategy**



## **Appendix 5: QA Scoring Sheet**



## **Chapter 7: References**

Anzenberg, V., Chandiramani, S., & Coderre, J. A. (2008). LET-Dependent Bystander Effects Caused by Irradiation of Human Prostate Carcinoma Cells with X Rays or Alpha Particles. *Radiation Research*, 170(4), 467–476. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr1312.1

Autsavapromporn, N., De Toledo, S. M., Jay-Gerin, J.-P. ., Harris, A. L., & Azzam, E. I. (2012). Human cell responses to ionizing radiation are differentially affected by the expressed connexins. *Journal of Radiation Research*, 54(2), 251–259. https://doi.org/10.1093/jrr/rrs099

Autsavapromporn, N., Plante, I., Liu, C., Konishi, T., Usami, N., Funayama, T., Azzam, E. I., Murakami, T., & Suzuki, M. (2014). Genetic changes in progeny of bystander human fibroblasts after microbeam irradiation with X-rays, protons or carbon ions: The relevance to cancer risk. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, 91(1), 62–70. https://doi.org/10.3109/09553002.2014.950715

Autsavapromporn, N., Suzuki, M., Funayama, T., Usami, N., Plante, I., Yokota, Y., Mutou, Y., Ikeda, H., Kobayashi, K., Kobayashi, Y., Uchihori, Y., Hei, T. K., Azzam, E. I., & Murakami, T. (2013). Gap Junction Communication and the Propagation of Bystander Effects Induced by Microbeam Irradiation in Human Fibroblast Cultures: The Impact of Radiation Quality. *Radiation Research*, *180*(4), 367–375. https://doi.org/10.1667/RR3111.1

Averbeck, D. (2023). Low-Dose Non-Targeted Effects and Mitochondrial Control. International Journal of Molecular Sciences, 24(14), 11460–11460. https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms241411460

- Azzam, E. I., de Toledo, S. M., Gooding, T., & Little, J. B. (1998). Intercellular Communication Is Involved in the Bystander Regulation of Gene Expression in Human Cells Exposed to Very Low Fluences of Alpha Particles. *Radiation Research*, 150(5), 497. https://doi.org/10.2307/3579865
- B. Little, J., I. Azzam, E., M. de Toledo, S., & Nagasawa, H. (2002). Bystander Effects: Intercellular Transmission of Radiation Damage Signals. *Radiation Protection Dosimetry*, 99(1), 159–162. https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordjournals.rpd.a006751
- Bolus, N. E. (2017). Basic Review of Radiation Biology and Terminology. *Journal of Nuclear Medicine Technology*, 45(4), 259–264. https://doi.org/10.2967/jnmt.117.195230
- Brooks, A. L. (2004). Evidence for "bystander effects" in vivo. *Human & Experimental Toxicology*, 23(2), 67–70. https://doi.org/10.1191/0960327104ht419oa
- Buonanno, M., de Toledo, S. M., Pain, D., & Azzam, E. I. (2011). Long-Term Consequences of Radiation-Induced Bystander Effects Depend on Radiation Quality and Dose and Correlate with Oxidative Stress. *Radiation Research*, 175(4), 405–415. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr2461.1
- Chai, Y., Calaf, G. M., Zhou, H., Ghandhi, S. A., Elliston, C. D., Wen, G., Takehiko Nohmi, Amundson, S. A., & Hei, T. K. (2012). Radiation induced COX-2 expression and mutagenesis at non-targeted lung tissues of gpt delta transgenic mice. *British Journal of Cancer*, 108(1), 91–98. https://doi.org/10.1038/bjc.2012.498
- Demoise, C. F., & Conard, R. A. (1972). Effects of Age and Radiation Exposure on Chromosomes in a Marshall Island Population. *Journals of Gerontology*. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/27.2.197

- Dunne, A. L., Price, M. E., Mothersill, C., McKeown, S. R., Robson, T., & Hirst, D. G. (2003). Relationship between clonogenic radiosensitivity, radiation-induced apoptosis and DNA damage/repair in human colon cancer cells. *British Journal of Cancer*, 89(12), 2277– 2283. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.bjc.6601427
- Faguet, G. B., Reichard, S. M., & Welter, D. A. (1984). Radiation-induced clastogenic plasma factors. *Cancer Genetics and Cytogenetics*, 12(1), 73–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/0165-4608(84)90010-4
- Fernandez-Palomo, C., Seymour, C., & Mothersill, C. (2016). Inter-Relationship between Low-Dose Hyper-Radiosensitivity and Radiation-Induced Bystander Effects in the Human T98G Glioma and the Epithelial HaCaT Cell Line. *Radiation Research*, 185(2), 124–133. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr14208.1
- Forstmeier, W., Wagenmakers, E.-J., & Parker, T. H. (2016). Detecting and avoiding likely false-positive findings a practical guide. *Biological Reviews*, 92(4), 1941–1968. https://doi.org/10.1111/brv.12315
- G. Hevesy. (1945). On the Effect of Roentgen Rays on Cellular Division. *Modern Physics*, 17(2-3), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1103/revmodphys.17.102
- Ganann, R., Ciliska, D., & Thomas, H. (2010). Expediting systematic reviews: methods and implications of rapid reviews. *Implementation Science*, 5(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-5908-5-56
- Giovanna Gomes Lara, Gracielle Ferreira Andrade, Marcelo Fernandes Cipreste, Marcos, Pedro
   Lana Gastelois, Dawidson Assis Gomes, Coutinho, M., Macedo, A., Neves, M. J., &
   Martins, E. (2018). Protection of normal cells from irradiation bystander effects by silica-

flufenamic acid nanoparticles. *Journal of Materials Science: Materials in Medicine*, 29(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10856-018-6134-5

- Goh, K. (1975). Total-Body Irradiation and Human Chromosomes: IV. Cytogenetic Follow-Up Studies 8 and 10 1/2 Years after Total-Body Irradiation. *Radiation Research*, 62(2), 364. https://doi.org/10.2307/3574228
- Goodwin, P. N., Edith Hinkley Quimby, & Russell Hedley Morgan. (1970). *Physical Foundations of Radiology*.
- Gow, M. D., Seymour, C. B., Byun, S.-H., & Mothersill, C. E. (2007). Effect of dose rate on the radiation-induced bystander response. *Physics in Medicine and Biology*, 53(1), 119–132. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/53/1/008
- Grifalconi, M., Celotti, L., & Maddalena Mognato. (2007). Bystander response in human lymphoblastoid TK6 cells. *Mutation Research: Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms* of Mutagenesis, 625(1-2), 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2007.06.004
- Grove, G. R. (1952). Measurement of cesium-137 and cobalt-60 gamma radiation with a pressure ionization chamber. *Journal of Research of the National Bureau of Standards*, 48(2), 147. https://doi.org/10.6028/jres.048.020
- Gupta, A., Mishra, P., Pandey, C., Singh, U., Sahu, C., & Keshri, A. (2019). Descriptive
  Statistics and Normality Tests for Statistical Data. *Annals of Cardiac Anaesthesia*, 22(1),
  67. https://doi.org/10.4103%2Faca.ACA\_157\_18
- Hall, E. J., & Giaccia, A. J. (2012). *Radiobiology for the Radiologist* (7th ed.). LippincottWilliams & Wilkins.
- Hanahan, D., & Weinberg, R. A. (2000). The Hallmarks of Cancer. *Cell*, 100(1), 57–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81683-9

- He, M., Dong, C., Konishi, T., Tu, W., Liu, W., Norio Shiomi, Kobayashi, A., Y. Uchihori,
  Yoshiya Furusawa, Hei, T. K., Dang Bingrong, & Shao, C. (2014). Differential effects of
  p53 on bystander phenotypes induced by gamma ray and high LET heavy ion radiation. *Life Sciences in Space Research*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.lssr.2014.02.003
- Heeran, A. B., Berrigan, H. P., & O'Sullivan, J. (2019). The Radiation-Induced Bystander Effect
  (RIBE) and its Connections with the Hallmarks of Cancer. *Radiation Research*, 192(6), 668. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr15489.1
- Heineke, H. (1905). Experimental investigations on the effects of X-rays on the bone marrow,
  with some remarks on the radiotherapy of leukemia and pseudoleukemia and sarcoms. *Deutsche Zeitschrift Fur Chirurgie*, 78.
- Ho, T., Tan, B. X., & Lane, D. (2019). How the Other Half Lives: What p53 Does When It Is
  Not Being a Transcription Factor. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 21(1), 13.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms21010013
- Hollowell, J., & L. Gayle Littlefield. (1968). Chromosome Damage Induced by Plasma of X-Rayed Patients: An Indirect Effect of X-Ray. *Sage Royal Society of Medicine*, 129(1), 240–244. https://doi.org/10.3181/00379727-129-33295
- Howe, O., O'Sullivan, J., Nolan, B., Vaughan, J., Gorman, S. D., Clarke, C., McClean, B., & Lyng, F. M. (2009). Do Radiation-Induced Bystander Effects Correlate to the Intrinsic Radiosensitivity of Individuals and Have Clinical Significance? *Radiation Research*, *171*(5), 521–529. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr1579.1
- Huang, R., & Zhou, P.-K. (2021). DNA damage repair: historical perspectives, mechanistic pathways and clinical translation for targeted cancer therapy. *Signal Transduction and Targeted Therapy*, 6(1). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41392-021-00648-7

- Ilnytskyy, Y., Koturbash, I., & Kovalchuk, O. (2009). Radiation-induced bystander effects in vivo are epigenetically regulated in a tissue-specific manner. *Environmental and Molecular Mutagenesis*, 50(2), 105–113. https://doi.org/10.1002/em.20440
- Ilyas, A. O., Alam, M. K., Musah, J.-D., Yang, M., Lam, Y. W., Roy, V. A. L., & Lau, C. (2021). Investigation on the Direct and Bystander Effects in HeLa Cells Exposed to Very Low α-Radiation Using Electrical Impedance Measurement. ACS Omega, 6(22), 13995– 14003. https://doi.org/10.1021/acsomega.0c05888
- Jolles, B. (1950). The Reciprocal Vicinity Effect of Irradiated Tissues on a "Diffusible Substance" in Irradiated Tissues. *Nature*, 23(265), 18–24. https://doi.org/10.1259/0007-1285-23-265-18
- Kadhim, M. A., Macdonald, D. A., Goodhead, D. T., Lorimore, S. A., Marsden, S. J., & Wright,
  E. G. (1992). Transmission of chromosomal instability after plutonium alpha-particle
  irradiation. *Nature*, 355(6362), 738–740. https://doi.org/10.1038/355738a0
- Kadhim, M. A., Hill, M. A., & Moore, S. R. (2006). Genomic instability and the role of radiation quality. *Radiation Protection Dosimetry*, 122(1-4), 221–227. https://doi.org/10.1093/rpd/ncl445
- Khan, M., Rothrauff, B. B., Merali, F., Musahl, V., Peterson, D., & Ayeni, O. R. (2014).
  Management of the Contaminated Anterior Cruciate Ligament Graft. *Arthroscopy: The Journal of Arthroscopic & Related Surgery*, 30(2), 236–244.
  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arthro.2013.10.012
- Kim, J. H. (2018). Three principles for radiation safety: time, distance, and shielding. *The Korean Journal of Pain*, 31(3), 145. https://doi.org/10.3344/kjp.2018.31.3.145

- Kogelnik, H. Dieter. (1997). Inauguration of radiotherapy as a new scientific speciality by Leopold Freund 100 years ago. *Radiotherapy and Oncology*, 42(3), 203–211. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0167-8140(96)01887-7
- Komarova, E. A., Diatchenko, L., Rokhlin, O. W., Hill, J. E., Wang, Z. J., Krivokrysenko, V. I., Feinstein, E., & Gudkov, A. V. (1998). Stress-induced secretion of growth inhibitors: a novel tumor suppressor function of p53. *Oncogene*, *17*(9), 1089–1096. https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.onc.1202303
- Koturbash, I., Kutanzi, K., Hendrickson, K., Rodriguez-Juarez, R., Kogosov, D., & Kovalchuk,
  O. (2008). Radiation-induced bystander effects in vivo are sex specific. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 642(1-2), 28–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2008.04.002
- Koturbash, I., Zemp, F. J., Kutanzi, K., Luzhna, L., Loree, J., Kolb, B., & Kovalchuk, O. (2008). Sex-specific microRNAome deregulation in the shielded bystander spleen of cranially exposed mice. *Cell Cycle*, 7(11), 1658–1667. https://doi.org/10.4161/cc.7.11.5981
- Kumar, N. M., & Gilula, N. B. (1996). The Gap Junction Communication Channel. *Cell*, 84(3), 381–388. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0092-8674(00)81282-9
- Le, M., McNeill, F. E., Seymour, C., Rainbow, A. J., & Mothersill, C. E. (2015). An Observed Effect of Ultraviolet Radiation Emitted from Beta-Irradiated HaCaT Cells upon Non-Beta-Irradiated Bystander Cells. *Radiation Research*, 183(3), 279. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr13827.1
- Le, M., Mothersill, C. E., Seymour, C. B., Rainbow, A. J., & McNeill, F. E. (2017). An Observed Effect of p53 Status on the Bystander Response to Radiation-Induced Cellular Photon Emission. *Radiation Research*, 187(2), 169. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr14342.1

Maguire, P., Mothersill, C., Seymour, C., & Lyng, F. M. (2005). Medium from Irradiated Cells Induces Dose-Dependent Mitochondrial Changes and BCL2 Responses in Unirradiated Human Keratinocytes. *Radiation Research*, *163*(4), 384–390. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr3325

Matarese, B., Rahmoune, H., Nguyen, T. K. V., Seymour, C., Schofield, P. N., & Mothersill, C. (2023). X-ray-induced bio-acoustic emissions from cultured cells. *International Journal* of Radiation Biology, 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1080/09553002.2023.2158248

McNaughton, S. (1930). Radiation and Genetics. The American Naturalist, 64.

- Mole, R. H. (1953). Whole Body Irradiation—Radiobiology or Medicine? *The British Journal of Radiology*, 26(305), 234–241. https://doi.org/10.1259/0007-1285-26-305-234
- Mothersill, C., Bucking, C., Smith, R. W., Agnihotri, N., O'Neill, A., Kilemade, M., & Seymour,
  C. B. (2006). Communication of Radiation-Induced Stress or Bystander Signals between
  Fish in Vivo. *Environmental Science & Technology*, 40(21), 6859–6864.
  https://doi.org/10.1021/es061099y
- Mothersill, C., Rea, D., Wright, E., Lorimore, S., Murphy, D., Seymour, C., & O'Malley, K.
  (2001). Individual variation in the production of a 'bystander signal' following irradiation of primary cultures of normal human urothelium. *Carcinogenesis*, 22(9), 1465–1471. https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/22.9.1465
- Mothersill, C., Rusin, A., Cristian Fernandez-Palomo, & Seymour, C. (2018). History of bystander effects research 1905-present; what is in a name? *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, 94(8), 696–707. https://doi.org/10.1080/09553002.2017.1398436

- Mothersill, C., & Seymour, C. (1997). Medium from irradiated human epithelial cells but not human fibroblasts reduces the clonogenic survival of unirradiated cells. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, 71(4), 421–427. https://doi.org/10.1080/095530097144030
- Mothersill, C., Seymour, C. B., & Joiner, M. C. (2002). Relationship between Radiation-Induced Low-Dose Hypersensitivity and the Bystander Effect. *Radiation Research*, 157(5), 526– 532. https://doi.org/10.1667/0033-7587(2002)157[0526:rbrild]2.0.co;2
- Mothersill, C., Seymour, R. J., & Seymour, C. B. (2004). Bystander Effects in Repair-Deficient Cell Lines. *Radiation Research*, *161*(3), 256–263. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr3136
- Muller, H. J. (1928). The Production of Mutations by X-Rays. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *14*(9), 714–726. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.14.9.714
- Murphy, J. D., & Morton, J. M. (1915). THE EFFECT OF ROENTGEN RAYS ON THE RATE OF GROWTH OF SPONTANEOUS TUMORS IN MICE. 22(6), 800–803. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.22.6.800
- Nagasawa, H., & Little, J. B. (1992). Induction of sister chromatid exchanges by extremely low doses of alpha-particles. *Cancer Research*, *52*(22), 6394–6396.
- Noshchenko, A. G., Moysich, K. B., Bondar, A., Zamostyan, P. V., Drosdova, V. D., & Michalek, A. M. (2001). Patterns of acute leukaemia occurrence among children in the Chernobyl region. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, *30*(1), 125–129. https://doi.org/10.1093/ije/30.1.125
- O'Neill-Mehlenbacher, A., Kilemade, M., Elliott, A., Mothersill, C., & Seymour, C. (2007).
  Comparison of direct and bystander effects induced by ionizing radiation in eight fish cell lines. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, *83*(9), 593–602.
  https://doi.org/10.1080/09553000701481782

- Paganetti, H. (2014). Relative biological effectiveness (RBE) values for proton beam therapy.
  Variations as a function of biological endpoint, dose, and linear energy transfer. *Physics in Medicine and Biology*, *59*(22), R419–R472. https://doi.org/10.1088/0031-9155/59/22/r419
- Pant, G., & Kamada, N. (1977). Chromosome aberrations in normal leukocytes induced by the plasma of exposed individuals. 26(2-3), 149–154.
- Parsons, B. J. (2012). Sterilisation of healthcare products by ionising radiation: principles and standards. *Sterilisation of Biomaterials and Medical Devices*, 56–70. https://doi.org/10.1533/9780857096265.56
- Parsons, W. H., Watkins, C., Pease, G. L., & Childs, D. S. (1954). Changes in sternal marrow following roentgen-ray therapy to the spleen in chronic granulocytic leukemia. *Cancer*, 7(1), 179–189. https://doi.org/10.1002/1097-0142(195401)7:1%3C179::aidcncr2820070120%3E3.0.co;2-a
- Persaud, R., Zhou, H., Hei, T. K., & Hall, E. J. (2007). Demonstration of a radiation-induced bystander effect for low dose low LET β-particles. *Radiation and Environmental Biophysics*, 46(4), 395–400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00411-007-0116-1
- Podgorsak, E. B. (2018). Radiation Physics For Medical Physicists. Springer.
- Prise, K. M., Belyakov, O. V., Folkard, M., & Michael, B. D. (1998). Studies of bystander effects in human fibroblasts using a charged particle microbeam. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, 74(6), 793–798. https://doi.org/10.1080/095530098141087
- Puck, T. T., & Marcus , P. I. (1956). ACTION OF X-RAYS ON MAMMALIAN CELLS. Journal of Experimental Medicine, 103(5), 653–666. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.103.5.653

- Rajamanickam Baskar, Balajee, A. S., & Geard, C. R. (2007). Effects of low and high LET radiations on bystander human lung fibroblast cell survival. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, 83(8), 551–559. https://doi.org/10.1080/09553000701384499
- Reed, A. B. (2011). The history of radiation use in medicine. *Journal of Vascular Surgery*, *53*(1), 3S5S. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jvs.2010.07.024
- Rosner, B. (1983). Percentage Points for a Generalized ESD Many-Outlier Procedure. *Technometrics*, 25(2), 165–172. https://doi.org/10.1080/00401706.1983.10487848
- Ryan, L. A., Seymour, C. B., O'Neill-Mehlenbacher, A., & Mothersill, C. E. (2008). Radiationinduced adaptive response in fish cell lines. *Journal of Environmental Radioactivity*, 99(4), 739–747. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvrad.2007.10.001
- Schanz, S., Schuler, N., Lorat, Y., Fan, L., Kaestner, L., Wennemuth, G., Rübe, C., & Rübe, C.
  E. (2012). Accumulation of DNA damage in complex normal tissues after protracted lowdose radiation. *DNA Repair*, *11*(10), 823–832. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dnarep.2012.07.005
- Schwarz, S. B., Schaffer, P. M., Kulka, U., Ertl-Wagner, B., Hell, R., & Schaffer, M. (2008). The effect of radio-adaptive doses on HT29 and GM637 cells. *Radiation Oncology*, 3(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1748-717x-3-12
- Seymour, C. B., & Mothersill, C. (1997). Delayed expression of lethal mutations and genomic instability in the progeny of human epithelial cells that survived in a bystander-killing environment. *Radiation Oncology Investigations*, 5(3), 106–110.

https://doi.org/10.1002/(sici)1520-6823(1997)5:3%3C106::aid-roi4%3E3.0.co;2-1

Seymour, C. B., & Mothersill, C. (2000). Relative Contribution of Bystander and Targeted Cell Killing to the Low-Dose Region of the Radiation Dose–Response Curve. *Radiation*  Research, 153(5), 508-511. https://doi.org/10.1667/0033-

7587(2000)153[0508:rcobat]2.0.co;2

- Seymour, C. B., Mothersill, C., & Alper, T. (1986). High yields of lethal mutations in somatic mammalian cells that survive ionizing radiation. *International Journal of Radiation Biology and Related Studies in Physics, Chemistry, and Medicine*, 50(1), 167–179. https://doi.org/10.1080/09553008614550541
- Shao, C., Aoki, M., & Furusawa, Y. (2001). Medium-mediated Bystander Effects on HSG Cells Co-cultivated with Cells Irradiated by X-rays or a 290 MeV/u Carbon Beam. *Journal of Radiation Research*, 42(3), 305–316. https://doi.org/10.1269/jrr.42.305
- Slim, K., Nini, E., Forestier, D., Kwiatkowski, F., Panis, Y., & Chipponi, J. (2003). Methodological index for non-randomized studies (minors): development and validation of a new instrument. ANZ Journal of Surgery, 73(9), 712–716. https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1445-2197.2003.02748.x
- Soleymanifard, S., & Toossi Bahreyni, M. (2012). Comparing the level of bystander effect in a couple of tumor and normal cell lines. *Journal of Medical Physics*, 37(2), 102. https://doi.org/10.4103/0971-6203.94745
- Souto, J. (1962). Tumour Development in the Rat induced by Blood of Irradiated Animals. *Nature*. https://doi.org/10.1038/1951317a0
- Sowa, M. B., Goetz, W., Baulch, J. E., Lewis, A., & Morgan, W. F. (2011). No evidence for a low linear energy transfer adaptive response in irradiated RKO cells. *Radiation Protection Dosimetry*, 143(2-4), 311–314. https://doi.org/10.1093/rpd/ncq487

Steiner, R. (2012). History and progress on accurate measurements of the Planck constant. *Reports on Progress in Physics*, 76(1), 016101. https://doi.org/10.1088/0034-4885/76/1/016101

- Suzuki, M., Y. Uchihori, Kitamura, H., Masakazu Oikawa, & Konishi, T. (2020). Biologic Impact of Different Ultra-Low-Fluence Irradiations in Human Fibroblasts. *Life*, 10(8), 154–154. https://doi.org/10.3390/life10080154
- T. S. P. Strangeways, & Honor Bridget Fell. (1927). A study of the direct and indirect action of X-rays upon the tissues of the embryonic fowl. 102(713), 9–29. https://doi.org/10.1098/rspb.1927.0034
- Tomita, M., Kobayashi, K., & Maeda, M. (2012). Microbeam Studies of Soft X-ray Induced Bystander Cell Killing Using Microbeam X-ray Cell Irradiation System at CRIEPI. *Journal of Radiation Research*. https://doi.org/10.1269/jrr.11055
- Tomita, M., Maeda, M., Kobayashi, K., & Matsumoto, H. (2013). Dose Response of Soft X-Ray-Induced Bystander Cell Killing Affected byp53Status. *Radiation Research*, 179(2), 200– 207. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr3010.1
- Vines, A. M., Lyng, F. M., McClean, B., Seymour, C., & Mothersill, C. E. (2009). Bystander effect induced changes in apoptosis related proteins and terminal differentiation in in vitro murine bladder cultures. *International Journal of Radiation Biology*, 85(1), 48–56. https://doi.org/10.1080/09553000802635047
- Vo, N. T. K., Shahid, M., Seymour, C. B., & Mothersill, C. E. (2019). Effects of Dose Rate on the Reproductive Cell Death and Early Mitochondrial Membrane Potential in Different Human Epithelium-Derived Cells Exposed to Gamma Rays. *Dose-Response*, 17(2), 155932581985250. https://doi.org/10.1177/1559325819852508

Widel, M., Lalik, A., Krzywon, A., Poleszczuk, J., Fujarewicz, K., & Rzeszowska-Wolny, J. (2015). The different radiation response and radiation-induced bystander effects in colorectal carcinoma cells differing in p53 status. *Mutation Research/Fundamental and Molecular Mechanisms of Mutagenesis*, 778, 61–70. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.mrfmmm.2015.06.003

Yahyapour, R., Motevaseli, E., Rezaeyan, A., Abdollahi, H., Farhood, B., Cheki, M., Najafi, M., & Villa, V. (2018). Mechanisms of Radiation Bystander and Non-Targeted Effects:
Implications to Radiation Carcinogenesis and Radiotherapy. *Current Radiopharmaceuticals*, *11*(1), 34–45.
https://doi.org/10.2174/1874471011666171229123130

Zhang, Y., Zhou, J., Held, K. D., Redmond, R. W., Prise, K. M., & Liber, H. L. (2008).
 Deficiencies of Double-Strand Break Repair Factors and Effects on Mutagenesis in
 Directly γ-Irradiated and Medium-Mediated Bystander Human Lymphoblastoid Cells.
 *Radiation Research*, *169*(2), 197–206. https://doi.org/10.1667/rr1189.1